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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Revenue was approximately HK$162.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2021, representing an increase of approximately 5.6% as
compared with the same for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Gross profit was approximately HK$7.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 21.0% as
compared with the same for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Gross profit margin decreased to 4.3% from 5.8% in the last financial
year.

Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company was
approximately HK$75.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
compared to the loss attributable to the equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$67.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2020.

Basic loss per share amounted to approximately HK$0.43 for the year
ended 31 March 2021, compared to the basic loss per share of
approximately HK$0.39 for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, we present to you the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “financial
year under review”).

During the financial year under review, the Group registered approximately
HK$162.6 million in revenue, representing an increase of approximately
5.6% as compared with the same period last year. Gross profit was
approximately HK$7.0 million with gross profit margin standing at
approximately 4.3%. Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company
was reported at approximately HK$75.0 million. The Board does not
recommend payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: nil).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the 2020/21 financial year, the global economy continued to
struggle, and the business environment was filled with challenges due to the
COVID-19. Countries have successively implemented stringent measures,
such as lockdown and quarantine measures and suspension of work in the
first half of the year, which exacerbated the global economic plight and
worsened trade activities.

Also, the escalation of geopolitical tensions and Sino-US trade conflicts led
to an increase in the international price of gold, hampering the retail demand
for gold jewellery and products. All these factors posed considerable risks and
challenges within the industry and our business. However, with the launch
of large-scale vaccination programs across the world, the pandemic in several
countries appears to have been contained. Moreover, the economic stimulus
initiatives adopted among countries with a two-pronged approach of
adopting positive fiscal policy and quantitative easing monetary policy, have
successfully boosted market confidence and stimulated consumption. All
these factors are conducive to the acceleration of economic recovery and the
demands in the U.S., European and Russian markets have far exceeded
expectations during the financial year under review.

As the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. subsides, many states have
gradually relaxed pandemic prevention and control measures. Commercial
activities have been restored in an orderly fashion stimulating substantial
growth in both investment and consumption. During the financial year
under review, in response to the negative economic impact brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the U.S. government adopted a series of economic
stimulus and quantitative easing monetary policy measures, including the
decision by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board to keep its short-term interest
rate near zero as well as a US$1.4 trillion spending bill and the
accompanying US$900 billion COVID-19 relief plan. Therefore, for the
year ended 31 March, 2021, revenue generated from sales in the Americas
market significantly increased by 554.1% to approximately HK$79.6 million
as compared with the same period last year.
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The performance of European markets (including Russia) was also strong.
Benefiting from effective pandemic prevention and control measures,
coupled with the €750 billion Pandemic Emergency Purchase Program
launched by the European Central Bank to combat the hardship brought on
by the COVID-19 pandemic, European countries achieved some relief from
their economic plight. Demand rose in the industrial, service and retail
industries stimulating economic recovery. Meanwhile, the pandemic was
brought under control in Russia as the government’s measures to stabilise
the economy gradually yielded results. The Russian economy, which relies
on oil revenue as a major source of national income, improved following the
gradual recovery of energy prices. As a result, for the year ended 31 March
2021, revenue generated from sales to European markets (including Russia)
increased by 177.7% to HK$48.6 million as compared with the same period
last year.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic in Mainland China has generally been
contained, and production and living situation returned to a semblance of
normalcy, the jewellery sector has not improved to the same extent. As
weddings are still a major factor influencing jewellery consumers, the fine
jewellery market in Mainland China was hammered by the decline in
marriage rates and a sharp decrease in the number of wedding events during
the financial year. Besides, as the escalation of Sino-US trade tensions sapped
consumer confidence and spending, jewellery enterprises were under great
pressure in terms of production and operations. Under this situation, for the
year ended 31 March 2021, revenue generated from sales to Mainland China
market registered a decrease of approximately 7.7% to approximately
HK$18.2 million as compared with the same period last year.

Considering the ongoing epidemic, the Hong Kong S.A.R. government has
continued to close the boundary crossing points to Mainland China and
Macau, which severely affected the tourism industry, and the number of
tourists visiting Hong Kong has plummeted. In the past, the Hong Kong
jewellery industry relied on the consumption demand from mainland
customers; sales at retail stores were mainly influenced by tourists and in-
store customer flow. The sharp decline in the flow of people has severely and
adversely affected the Hong Kong business of the Company resulting in a
drop in sales from Hong Kong for the company. The short-term business
environment for retail trade will remain challenging. For the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group’s revenue from sales in the Hong Kong market
registered a significant decline of 84.5% from the same period last year to
HK$15.9 million.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, coronavirus mutations coupled with the epidemic prevention
policies of various countries and uncertainties in Sino-US economic and
trade relations are debilitating the recovery momentum of the world’s major
economies. The economic growth rate has slowed, and the downward
pressure has increased significantly. Despite the improvement in the overall
global economic outlook, the Group reckons that the recovery process still
faces significant uncertainty, and the Group is cautiously prudent about
future market development.

Across the world, we are witnessing a resurgence of the pandemic. Brazil and
India have become the pandemic’s epicenter with the outbreak of a new
wave of COVID-19 infections resulted in a heavier burden for the countries
combating the pandemic. Also, various cities in Japan have declared a state
of emergency for the third time. The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic has
severely disrupted the flow of people, logistics, information, and capital
around the world, which has hindered global economic recovery. Meanwhile,
travel between Mainland China and Hong Kong has not yet resumed, which
will lead to a prolonged delay in retail market recovery. All of these situations
indicate that the ability to combat the spread of COVID-19 pandemic is still
the key to recovery and the global economy faces a critical juncture.

On the other hand, Sino-US relations have not improved after the
inauguration of U.S. President Joe Biden so the tensions caused by the
international political situation add to the market risk. In the past year, U.S.
President Joe Biden has upheld most of the policies targeting Mainland
China enacted under outgoing president Donald Trump, especially the
imposition of tariffs on Chinese goods. Therefore, we expect that while the
relationship between the two countries may not deteriorate sharply, there
does not appear to be any obvious signs of recovery.

In view of all these developments, we will strive to further improve business
efficiency by streamlining our business and improving internal resources. We
will stay on course within the jewellery business, explore and employ new
technologies, foster innovation in our business while strengthening our sales
and marketing capabilities solidifying our presence in existing markets,
expanding our luxury customer base, and developing new markets to

broaden the global visibility of the K.T.L. brand.

In the American and European markets (including Russia), we will continue
to explore opportunities where our integrated services will add value i.e. a
wider range of styles and designs tailored for individual markets. We will
adjust our production resources and capacity to better cater for different
consumer preference as well as the varied product lead time and festive
shopping practices etc.

In the Mainland China market, we will draw on the strength of our well-
established corporate brand name and proven product design capabilities to
increase resources in a bid to further attract industry partners, namely jewelry
wholesalers or chain stores in the trade.
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We will consistently invest more in promoting our brand and products via
sales and marketing efforts to raise brand awareness. Meanwhile, we will
participate in selected trade exhibitions, and allocate sufficient design and
product development resources to offer a wider range of designs that are
favorable to consumers in different markets.

APPRECIATION

Finally, we would like to take this opportunity to extend our heartfelt
gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and all stakeholders
for their continuous support. We would also like to express our sincere
appreciation to our management team and colleagues for their dedication
and contributions.

Su Zhiyi

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

08  Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited ¥ 5 54 M #% Jit 47 FlR 2 7]

(] R > FRAM G FR AR B B T T 3 i) B3 B 2 R
IR A AL E A > DUR T A A o 1EAL
FRAN TR HEWE L H 2 0 AT B B 5 R BE - S TE
BT R i B BRI > BRI 4R (iR U1 A A5 T
19 il R B0 Y BT o

ol

etk WATFEFE LS > BIRF - Ul - 255
KA R0y 3 0 AR S R BLAE AT B A it o
BF > FRAM IR 200 SR I BX M M R R B T
FEFIE I -

Wk —
LR ATE S
ik > 202146 H30 H



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HRE LR E )G

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
Board consists of nine Directors, comprising three executive Directors and
six independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Su Zhiyi (“Mr. Su”), aged 44, graduated from Changsha University of

Science & Technology with a bachelor in transportation engineering in July
1999 and further obtained his master of business administration from Keele
University in September 2005. Mr. Su held various senior management
positions within the HNA group since he joined the HNA group in 1999,
including the chairman of Calculus Internet Technology Co., Ltd, the
chairman of Hainan National Holiday Financial Service Co., Ltd, the
operating president of HNA Tourism Innovation Investment Co., Ltd and
the vice president of Beijing Capital Airlines Co., Ltd.

Mr. Xiong Cong (“Mr. Xiong”), aged 39, serves as a manager of the non-
aviation asset management division of asset management department of
HNA Group Co Ltd. Mr. Xiong graduated from the London School of
Economics in 2006 with a master’s degree in finance and economics. He is
also a CFA charterholder. Mr. Xiong joined HNA in 2010, and held various
management positions at HNA Group Co Ltd including International
Investment Centre Manager at Investment Management Department from
May 2015 to March 2017, Deputy General Manager at Investment
Management Department from March 2017 to March 2018. Before joining
HNA, Mr. Xiong worked at a foreign commercial bank in China. He has
extensive knowledge and working experience in investment, merger and
acquisition, and corporate banking.

Mr. Cai Si (“Mr. Cai”), aged 41, serves as an assistant to general manager of
the compliance and legal department of the non-aviation asset management
division of the HNA group. Mr. Cai graduated from Northwest University
of Political Science and Law with a bachelor in law in June 2003. Mr. Cai
held various other positions within the HNA group since he joined the
HNA group in 2003, including the assistant to general manager of HNA
audit and legal department, the risk control director of HNA Modern
Logistics Co., Ltd, the risk control director of CCOOP Group Co., Ltd, the
vice general manager of compliance and legal department of HNA Logistics
Group Co., Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ting Tit Cheung (“Mr. Ting”), aged 65, an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Ting has been the head of China desk of First Myanmar
Investment Co., Ltd. since 1 September 2017. Mr. Ting was the senior
representative officer in Hong Kong of Banque Cantonale de Geneve and
acted as an independent non-executive director of National Agricultural
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1236), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, from 2013 to 2016. Mr. Ting graduated from the Technicum
Neuchatelois in Switzerland in 1978 before he obtained his Master degree in
Business Administration in University of East Asia (Macau) in 1991. Mr.
Ting served as a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference Committee of Putuo District in Shanghai from 2012 to 2016.

Mr. Chan Chi Kuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 60, an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma from the Department of Accounting of
the Hong Kong Shue Yan College in 1991. He further obtained a Master
degree in Accounting from the Jinan University in 2006. Mr. Chan has over
28 years of experience in the accounting and taxation consultancy disciplines
and has worked in a number of accounting firms in Hong Kong, including
K.K. Young & Co., Leung Po Yee & Co., Shom & Yu CPA Limited, and
Y.K. Yu & Co. He is currently practising in his own name. Mr. Chan was
admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in 2004, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Lo Chun Pong (“Mr. Lo”), aged 49, an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Lo is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and a member of
The Law Society of Hong Kong. Mr. Lo is a partner of Raymond C.P. Lo &
Co., Solicitors and was previously the sole proprietor of same firm. Mr. Lo
has been an accredited mediator of the Hong Kong Mediation Centre since
April 2010 and a civil celebrant of marriages since 2006. Mr. Lo graduated
from the University of Hull with a degree of Bachelor of Laws in 1994. Mr.
Lo was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1998.
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Mr. Yau Pak Yue (“Mr. Yau”), aged 52, obtained his Bachelor of
Commerce (majoring in Accountancy) from the University of Wollongong
in Australia. He was the chief knowledge officer of Guangzhou Chengfa
Capital Company Limited, a state-owned fund management company, from
May 2015 to January 2017. Prior to that, he was the chief executive officer
of Taiyang International Cold Chain (Group) Limited from March 2014 to
July 2014, and a partner at one of the big four international accounting
firms from 2005 to 2012. He has over 25 years of experience in mergers and
acquisitions transaction supports and financial due diligence. Mr. Yau is
currently the director of Ewin Advisory Company Limited. Mr. Yau is also a
certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a certified practicing
accountant in Australia. Mr. Yau currently serves as an executive director of
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 279), a non-executive director of Daisho Microline
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 567) and an independent non-executive director of
Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 627). Mr. Yau was an
independent non-executive director of KEE Holdings Company Limited
(currently renamed as China Apex Group Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2011) from July 2017 to
November 2019 and Ascent International Holdings Limited (currently
renamed as China International Development Corporation Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 264)
from September 2017 to August 2018.

B4R H e A (TERJe 2 1) > 5258 » USRI E K
£ (University of Wollongong) i P E- 52 L2247 - L&
FHER o A 20154E5 A &£ 20174E1 A - BB EM
WO GRS A BRA R A E o A
FyBA R4 A E o JELLZ BT - IR 2014463 A &
20144E7 % A R VeI B4 gl (B2 A R JIAT
BEFE o Y2005 4F £ 20124F > 8 £ Hoop— BT 0 oK B
PSEr w AlZE0S B  A  N o B5O DF B 2S5 SR B B
5 T 9 T AT O 25 AR ARG o BROCAE LA B A
A PR A AR 4 o B4R TR A ks o 5t
Al S W L 2E S 5 A o BB SR B R B RO A R 4
PEEA PR ) (— M B W 565 28 5 A BR 2 ) ([ B
AT EMR WA F > BAREE  279) BT
H o KB E A PR (—HA B g ir AR B
BIATD s B AHE © 567) (9 FEBUAT B8 97 R AR AR I R
T 45 A BRAA W] (— [ B 8 r AR BT A+ >
JBE O A 85+ 627) BB ST FE BT EE o BB
201747 HZE 20194 11 H &AL B 5 B A BR S =) (B
T v [0 AR T A PR N 7)) (— A B = ir 2 AR
WA R BACHE - 2011) OIS IEEATE S > R
A 201759 H £ 2018 4F 8 H AT v B2 [ B 4% I A KR
) (BURE 2 A s R e I S A RN W] (— [N B 58
JF R BT T AR HE © 264) 8 S IR AT
o

2021 Annual Report 4EE#HRE 11



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
HHEERREHE

Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 63, holds a Diploma in Business
Management from the Hong Kong Management Association and a Certificate
of Bank of China Banking Course. He has over 24 years of experience in
finance and business consulting. Mr. Chung started working in The
Kwangtung Provincial Bank in 1976, and his last position before leaving the
bank in 1996 was a manager in charge of the Tai Po sub-branch. After his
departure from The Kwangtung Provincial Bank, Mr. Chung established
Raymond Chung Company in 1996, a finance and business consulting firm
for corporations in Hong Kong. In 2004, he set up another consulting firm,
Excel Linker Capital (Asia) Limited, to provide similar consultancy services.
Due to duplicity of the business nature, Raymond Chung Company was
closed in September 2006. In 2009, Mr. Chung applied to deregister Excel
Linker Capital (Asia) Limited as he decided to quit the consultancy services
market. Mr. Chung acted as an independent non-executive director of United
Gene High-Tech Group Limited (currently known as Innovative
Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited) (stock code: 399) from March 2007 to May
2009, Fu Ji Food and Catering Services Holdings Limited (currently known
as Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited) (stock code: 1175)
from June 2011 to July 2013, China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1380) from February 2013 to July 2015, Fuguiniao Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 1819, the shares of which were delisted on 26 August 2019) from
September 2017 to May 2018, China Taifeng Beddings Holdings Limited
(stock code: 873, the shares of which were delisted on 21 February 2019)
from November 2018 to February 2019 and Centron Telecom International
Holding Ltd. (stock code: 1155, the shares of which were delisted on 1
December 2020) from April 2018 to February 2020. He acted as an
independent non-executive director from January 2009 to August 2013 and a
non-executive director from August 2013 to September 2014 of U-RIGHT
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Fullsun International
Holdings Group Co., Limited) (stock code: 627). Mr. Chung has been an
independent non-executive director of China Huishan Dairy Holdings
Company (stock code: 6863, the shares of which were delisted on 23
December 2019) since June 2017, and a non-executive director of Freeman
Fintech Corporation Limited (stock code: 279) since December 2020.
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Mr. Ning Rui (“Mr. Ning”), aged 45, graduated from Sun Yat-Sen
University. He worked in audit department of Pricewaterhouse Coopers and
financial advisory department of Deloitte after which he worked as an
investment director in a private equity fund. Mr. Ning is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CICPA). Mr. Ning has
over 15 years’ experience in investment and financial advisory. He has
extensive experience in deal structuring, valuation, due diligence and post-
transaction management etc. relating to investment projects. He is good at
providing solution to turn around under-performing business and enhance
business value. He is familiar with business environment of Mainland China
and has unique insights in opportunities and challenges which a PRC business
could be facing. Mr. Ning is familiar with the capital market in China and
Hong Kong. He handled many cases involving restructuring, RTO, re-listing
of companies listed on China or Hong Kong market. Selective cases include
Nanjing Tanker Corporation (600087.SH), Southwest Pharmaceutics
(600666.SH) and Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited
(00923.HK) (formerly known as Fook Woo Group). He has solid experience
in pharmaceutics, bio-tech, real estate as well as entertainment.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Chau Chi Lai (“Mr. Chau”), aged 47, is the chief financial officer and

company secretary of the Group, responsible for overseeing the Group’s
finance, as well as company secretarial, internal control, investor relation and
corporate governance functions of the Group. Mr. Chau joined the Group
in August 2012. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chau worked in an
international accounting firm in Hong Kong between January 2003 and
April 2012 and left as a senior manager. Between November 1998 and
December 2002, Mr. Chau worked for other international accounting firms
in Canada in accounting and audit.

Mr. Chau graduated from McGill University with a degree of bachelor of
science in June 1997 and further obtained degree of bachelor of commerce
from the same university in June 1999. Mr. Chau was also awarded the
graduate diploma in accountancy from Concordia University, Montreal
Canada in October 2000. Mr. Chau has been a Chartered Accountant of
Canada since March 2002 and a Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder
since July 2002. Mr. Chau has also been a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant since October 2012, a member of
American Institute of Certified Public Accountant since April 2003. Mr.
Chau has been licensed by the State of New Hampshire Board of
Accountancy as a certified public accountant since November 2002 and
State of Oregon Board of accountancy since December 2007, and a
chartered professional accountant of Quebec, Canada since May 2012.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Being an integrated fine jewellery provider and an original design
manufacturer with a well-established operating history in Hong Kong, the
Group is primarily engaged in designing, manufacturing and exporting fine
jewelleries to jewellery wholesalers and retailers mainly in Hong Kong, Asia
(including Mainland China), the Americas and Europe (including Russia).
The Group has been offering a wide range of fine jewellery products in karat
gold encompassing rings, earrings, pendants, necklaces, bracelets, bangles,
cufflinks, brooches and anklets that are generally targeted at the mass to
middle segment, the lowest among the three tiers of the fine jewellery market
segments in terms of retail prices. At the same time, in order to enrich the
product range, the Group also provides gold products and watches. The
Group’s customers are mainly wholesalers and retailers of jewellery products.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 under review, global economic
situation remained difficult. The uncertainties caused by the escalated trade
conflict between Mainland China and the U.S. as well as the U.S.
presidential election, all weighted on the global risk sentiment. Coupled with
the fact that the COVID-19 pandemic has not been effectively controlled,
the continuous quarantine measures implemented for slowing down the
spread has brought significant challenges to the jewellery industry, which has
further severely and adversely affected the Group’s sales performance in most
of the regions. Due to the business travel restrictions and the fact that many
large-scale international jewelry fairs have been cancelled or postponed, there
had been significant reductions in orders, shipments and production during
the Period.

The Mainland China market continued to experience a challenging
operating environment with the protracted COVID-19 pandemic. The
Mainland China has been able to control the pandemic to certain extent,
however, the consumer’s demand for gold and jewellery has not shown any
sign of recovery in the short term. Also, the escalation of Sino-US trade
conflict, as well as the uncertainty over the policies towards Mainland China
of the new U.S. president Joe Biden, were dampening the business sentiment
and significantly curbing consumer confidence and expenditure. In light of
this situation, for the financial year ended 31 March 2021, revenue generated
from sales to the Asia (including Mainland China) market registered a
decrease of approximately 7.7% to approximately HK$18.2 million as
compared with the same period last year. The U.S. announced to end the
preferential economic treatment for Hong Kong and imposed sanctions on
certain Hong Kong officials, such actions has severely and adversely affected
Hong Kong market, and therefore, the revenue generated from Hong Kong
market decreased by approximately 84.5% to approximately HK$15.9
million.
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The Americas market, which was severely plagued by the pandemic, has also
begun to see signs that its COVID-19 hospitalizations may be slowing
down. Coupled with the fact that the U.S. Federal Reserve has taken positive
actions to boost the economy, the number of Americans seeking
unemployment benefits fell slightly recently, and the U.S. stock market
index hit record high. Therefore, for the year ended 31 March 2021, revenue
generated from sales in the Americas market increased by 554.1% to
approximately HK$79.6 million. However, the Group remains conservative
and prudent about the Americas market outlook, primarily due to the
uncertainty over the policies towards Mainland China of the new U.S.
president Joe Biden, and taking into account that the business environment
has not improved, which increased the potential risk of the Group’s business
in Americas market.

In Europe (including Russia), the spread of COVID-19 pandemic has
slowed down for a while, the restriction measures and border closure
implemented by many countries had also been relieved. Coupled with the
rebound of international crude oil prices, the declining European countries
(including Russia) economy were temporarily rejuvenated despite the
COVID-19 crisis, which stimulated the Group’s sales to rise. For the year
ended 31 March 2021, revenue generated from sales to the Europe
(including Russia) market increased 177.7% to approximately HK$48.6
million. However, with another wave of COVID-19 infections spread in
Europe (including Russia) market, many countries have re-implemented
lockdown measures to combat the spread of coronavirus. It is expected that
the economic plight of Europe (including Russia) market will be exacerbated
and the road to recovery is hampered.

To better adapt to uncertain market outlook, the Group has relentlessly
applied stringent controls over capital expenditures. For the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group’s administrative expenses were approximately
HK$22.0 million, which were approximately 12.8% lower than that of the
corresponding period of last year, while selling expenses increased by
approximately 2.3% to approximately HK$4.4 million, which was mainly
because the export insurance increased due to the increase in overseas sales.

Building presence in ancillary business line

Since 2019, the Group has set its foot into sales of gold products and
watches to cater to the needs of different customers in a better way. These
ancillary products come with lower average gross profit margin. Sales
generated from luxury watches, precious metals and other raw jewellery
materials amounted to approximately 9.6% of the Group’s total sales for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

Prospects

Looking ahead, under the influence of uncertain factors such as the Sino
U.S. trade war, the U.S. presidential election and the global spread of
COVID-19, the downward pressure on the global economy is obvious, The
Group reckons that the global economy will continue to experience several
stages of adjustments and is cautiously prudent about the outlook for the
second half of 2021.
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In Europe (including Russia), problems such as weak export market and the
Brexit issue have exacerbated the recession of the European market. With the
outbreak of COVID-19, the restriction measures and border closure
implemented by many countries have brought the economy into further
trouble. Closure of companies and home quarantine measures have led to an
increase of unemployment and a decrease of disposable income. Affected by
the epidemic, the international crude oil prices plummeted, which caused
the already struggling Russian economy to be worse. There are many
uncertainties in those countries, leading to the questions about when and
how their economies will restart.

The U.S. has the most serious outbreak of COVID-19. The continuous
fermentation of the epidemic and the large-scale “pause” of the economy
have continued, resulting in serious economic losses. At the same time, the
risk of uncertainty in the U.S.’s trade policy is still increasing, and the Sino
U.S. trade war continues, which may hinder Mainland China’s economic
growth.

In addition, COVID-19 will promote the rapid enhancement of science and
technology, including the next generation of remote work technology, digital
transformation and upgrading as well as contactless business models.
Consumption habits will also change, and the traditional jewellery industry
will face a new business and technological environment.

In order to cope with the probable uncertainties and adverse market
environment in the future, the management of the Group will continue to
actively optimise resource allocation, improve operating efficiency and seek
new business growth areas.

Event after the Reporting Period

A supplemental service agreement dated 10 June 2021 was entered into
between the Company and Mr. Su, pursuant to which, inter alia, with effect
from 1 April 2021, (a) Mr. Su’s monthly salary has been increased to
HK$157,000 and (b) the Company may terminate the service agreement
with Mr. Su by giving to him 7 days’ notice in writing (or payment of salary
in lieu of such notice) and a compensation in the amount equivalent to six-
month’s monthly salary. Mr. Su’s monthly salary was determined by the
Board and the remuneration committee with reference to the prevailing
market conditions, qualifications, duties and responsibilities of Mr. Su.

A supplemental service agreement dated 10 June 2021 was entered into
between the Company and Mr. Xiong, pursuant to which, inter alia, with
effect from 1 April 2021, (a) Mr. Xiong’s monthly salary has been increased
to HK$100,000 and (b) the Company may terminate the service agreement
with Mr. Xiong by giving to him 7 days’ notice in writing (or payment of
salary in lieu of such notice) and a compensation in the amount equivalent
to six-month’s monthly salary. Mr. Xiong’s monthly salary was determined
by the Board and the remuneration committee with reference to the
prevailing market conditions, qualifications, duties and responsibilities of
Mr. Xiong.
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Save as disclosed above and in note 36 of the section headed “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” in this report, there is no other
significant event of the Group after the Reporting Period.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue (HK$000) s (F#IT)
Gross profit (HK$°000) EBH (TH#:I0)
Gross profit margin (%) EFE (%)

Loss attributable to the equity holders of

the Company (HK$°000) (F#:0)

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$162.6 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$8.6
million or 5.6% compared with the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase
in the Group’s revenue was primarily due to (i) a significant increase in sales
in the Americas of approximately HK$67.5 million primarily due to the
rising vaccination rate in the U.S. and the government’s economic stimulus
plan to boost consumer confidence; (ii) increase in sales in Europe (including
Russia) of approximately HK$31.1 million, mainly attributable to effective
epidemic prevention and control measures accelerate economic recovery; (iii)
a decrease in sales in the Asia (including Mainland China) of approximately
HKS$1.5 million, mainly because gold products sales decline in the Mainland
China; (iv) a decrease in sales in Hong Kong of approximately HK$87.1
million, is mainly due to the decline in demand for gold raw materials in
Hong Kong market; and (v) a decrease in sales in other regions of
approximately HK$1.4 million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
approximately HK$7.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HKS$1.9 million or 21.0% compared with the year ended 31 March 2020.
Gross profit margin decreased to approximately 4.3% from approximately
5.8%, which was mainly due to the impact of COVID-19, and increasing
competition in the traditional jewellery industry.

BR DL b B AR it [ 476 RS & BT ok ) B 5E 36 — BOAr
WFRHE S AR LS8 L b 5 4% T IR

St 5 1o

For the year ended 31 March
A3 H31 I

A T RS A N HEAG e 45

2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4
162,644 154,038
7,019 8,885
43 5.8
(74,998) (67,694)

ASE A 2 20214E3 A 31 HIE4EE 25 40 £ 162.6
HE T B R 20204F3 H 31 H R4 N4 8.6
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Selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses increased by approximately HK$0.1 million or
2.3% to approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
from approximately HK$4.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The increase was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in overseas sales led
the export insurance increased approximately HK$1.0 million; (ii) exhibition
costs decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million; and (iii) a decrease in
staff costs of approximately HK$0.5 million due to the result of the business
operation and resources allocation process.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$3.3
million or 12.8%, to approximately HK$22.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2021 from approximately HK$25.3 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the combined effects of (i)
the decline in business entertainment, motor vehicle fees and membership
fees by approximately HK$1.4 million attributable to strengthening cost
controls in business operation; and (ii) energy saving and emission reduction,
optimizing resource allocation, reducing depreciation expenses by
approximately HK$1.8 million.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.6 million or
62.2%, to approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
from approximately HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The decrease was primarily a result of the decrease in average borrowing
balance for the year ended 31 March 2021 compared with the year ended 31
March 2020.

Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company
of approximately HK$75.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
compared to a loss of approximately HK$67.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. The loss was mainly attributable to the loss on changes in fair
value on the listed equity securities held by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021.

Property, plant and equipment

The net carrying amount as at 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$1.3
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.4 million from that
of 2020. This was mainly due to: (i) depreciation amounted to
approximately HK$1.0 million; and (ii) the Group’s disposal of a subsidiary
in the Hong Kong amounted to approximately HK$2.3 million.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)

Financial assets at FVPL amounted to approximately HK$112.6 million
including a portfolio of Hong Kong listed companies equity securities in
various industries held for long term growth. During the year ended 31
March 2021, the loss on changes in fair value on the listed equity securities
of approximately HK$56.7 million has been recognised in profit or loss. The
executive directors did not alter the Group’s investment strategy due to
short-term market volatilities.

Trade receivables

There was a decrease in trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$27.8 million as compared with 31 March 2020, which
was mainly due to the effective collection policy.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$112.4 million (2020: approximately HK$286.9 million) which
comprised cash and bank balances of approximately HK$37.2 million (2020:
approximately HK$27.9 million). As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
non-current liabilities of approximately HK$0.8 million (2020:
approximately HK$1.1 million), and the current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$22.4 million (2020: approximately HK$30.0 million),
consisting mainly of payables arising in the normal course of operation.
Accordingly, the current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 5.0 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately
9.5).

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was not applicable as
cash and bank balances exceeded interest-bearing borrowings.

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the year under review. The Group strives to reduce exposure to
credit risk by buying credit insurance on certain customers’ receivables,
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status
of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

A RRAERI A (T Rl E AH 1) 64 ml
&

S EFE AR SRS E L A 112.6 0 ST
Hp i AR Em a2 @7 EN B LA
A S E A S - #FE 2021453 A 31 HIE4EE >
TR R R A A E B R TR A 56.7 T B LT RE
T P RR o AT R 2R AT R A S 0 T 8 i i ol s
AL [ 1% B o

2021453 H 31 H 19 & 5) I ik R 2020 453 H
31 HIE 5 UK IE R D #1278 H #lke» I EE
FH A A R A ISR B ©

i B < e S B R

R20214F3 H31H > AEMPRBEELNH 11248
HOV T (20204F @ £9286.9 A Wi o0) » BAGH 4 KR
TT4EERA)37.2 T B L (20204F © £927.9 H & 0) -
20213 H31H > AEBMWIERBEELNH08H
HIWE T (20204F 911 A S I0) > LRI B L
7522.4 F BT (20204F © £930.0 B E#EIG) - FEA
T H H R R e A Y AT RO o TR > R 2021
4331 H > B (B D) G = R A A
) #555.0 (20204F : £9.5) o

AR R
ASERR 2021 43 7 31 H A EA A fHLRAAE A
JR R B B RAT A B i R B

Joi 5 SR

G B TE AT BB U BRIBCH IR0 S 5 A B SRS
PR T 7% T R 4 32 R0 A £ ik 4 P DR B I B AR DL © AR 4R
2 A T R R R TR A TR B AN
REAl C A 5 00 5 05RO B B IR L - 785 R B AR AR £
JEBRE = o o Y B - ) B AR AR AR
WO BN B BAR UL > AR AR I~ A EL At R oA
14 Bl T A TS IR R TR

2021 Annual Report 4EJE#HE 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B o i % o3

BUSINESS STRATEGIES

With continued political, economic and market uncertainties, the existing
business of the Group in manufacturing and sale of jewellery products
reported a decrease in gross profit. In light of the operations and financial
position of the Group, the Group intends to explore other possible business
opportunities both locally and abroad while staying on with its jewellery
business.

Concurrently, the Group remains committed to maintaining its status as a
top fine jewellery manufacturer and exporter in Hong Kong by strengthening
its sales and marketing force, solidifying its presence in existing markets and
reinforcing market recognition of its brand name globally.

The Group continues to explore opportunities where it believes would
benefit the integrated services it is offering, i.e. providing a wider range of
styles and designs tailored for individual markets and adjusting its
production resources and capacity to better cater for varied product lead
time, consumer preferences and festive shopping practices. The Group will
also draw on strength of its established corporate brand name and proven
design capabilities to increase resources in a bid to further attract jewellery
wholesalers or chain stores in the trade. The Group will spend its sales and
marketing resources on promoting its brand and products, participating in
selected trade exhibitions, and allocate sufficient design and product
development resources to offer a wider range of designs that are favourable
to consumers in different markets.

The Group believes its abilities to create new product designs and develop
innovative production techniques in response to market trends and
customers’ preferences contribute to the success of its products. The Group
has been offering customers with a diverse range of products with appealing
designs at affordable prices, made with assorted kinds of precious metals,
diamonds and gem stones with various specifications in a bid to cater for a
broad bandwidth of market demand. Backed by the “One Belt, One Road”
initiative, the Group is devoted to expanding into the new market that will
provide the Group with strong momentum for future growth.

Foreign exchange exposure

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currency other
than the functional currency of the respective group entities, which are
mainly trade receivables, other receivables, financial assets at FVPL, cash and
bank balances and trade and other payables. Consequently the Group had
foreign exchange risk exposure from translation of amount denominated in
foreign currencies as at 31 March 2021. Since HK$ is pegged to USS$, the
Group does not expect any significant movements in HK$/US$ exchange
rate. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect to
RMB. If HK$ as at 31 March 2021 had strengthened/weakened by 5%
against RMB with all other variables held constant, the loss for the year
attributable to the equity holders of the Company would have been
decreased/increased by approximately HK$6,000 for the year ended 31
March 2021 (2020: loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Company would have decreased/increased by approximately HK$6,000).
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The Group does not engage in any derivatives activities and does not commit
to any financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

Capital structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the capital of the
Company comprises ordinary shares and capital reserves.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the Group had no capital
commitments.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Information on employees

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 22 employees (2020: 31), including
the executive Directors. Total staff costs (including the Directors’
emoluments) were approximately HK$7.9 million, as compared with
approximately HK$7.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Remuneration is determined with reference to market conditions and
individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

Apart from the provident fund scheme (operation in accordance with the
provisions of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for Hong
Kong employees) or social insurance fund (including retirement pension
insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance
and maternity insurance for the PRC employees), discretionary bonuses and
employee share options are also awarded to employees according to the
Group’s performance as well as assessment of individual performance. Since
the adoption of the share option scheme on 10 February 2015 and up to 31
March 2021, no options have been granted by the Company.

The Directors believe that the salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees
are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

Share option scheme

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 10 February 2015
(the “Scheme”) under which certain selected classes of participants
(including, among others, Directors and full-time employees) may be
granted options to subscribe for the shares. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date. No

share option had ever been granted under the Scheme since its adoption, up
to 31 March 2021.
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Significant Investments Held

During the year end 31 March 2021, the Group held the following
significant investments in equity interest of other companies:

Place of

Name incorporation

Gl
i R 5

China Automobile New Retail Bermuda
(Holdings) Limited (the former
name is “Lisi Group (Holdings)
Limited”) (“China Auto NR”)
MERENEE () i
FRAR (i A
PR SE I (V)
HRARD
(ThERREHEE D)

China U-Ton Future Space Industrial ~ Cayman Islands
Group Holdings Limited
(the former name is
“China U-Ton Holdings Limited”)
(“U-Ton Future”) (Note 1)
R A AR 2 GET
SEERARA
(BT A [ BB
HIRAR ) (TEEAR )
(D

Xiezhong International Holdings Cayman Islands
Limited (“Xiezhong International”)
(Note 2)

R B R R A R ) WS
(B ]) (Wt 2)

For further information, please refer to (i) the announcement dated 17 July
2019 in relation to acquisitions of the shares of China Auto NR; (ii) the
announcements dated 16 August and 19 August 2019 in relation to
acquisitions of the shares of U-Ton Future and Xiezhong International; and
(iii) the circular dated 19 September 2019 in relation to acquisitions of the

shares of U-Ton Future.

HK
stock
code

ik
B
%4

0526

0526

6168

6168

3663

3663

Date of

acquisitions

Wl H

11and 16 July
2019

20194711 H
K16 H

11 July and
14 August
2019

0197 A1 H
K8H14H

11 July and
14 August
2019

20194711 H
K8 H14H

Number of
acquired
shares
asat

31 March
2021

#2021 4
3R31H

Cl
LT

86,672,000

86,672,000

200,540,000

200,540,000

19,296,000

19,296,000

2 ERRE
AR 2021 4F3 A 31 B IRAFJE > ALEE A H AL
ALY R IR MER SN
Proportion of
acquired shares
in the total issued
share capital of Cost HK$
investee as at (exclusive of
31 March transaction Principal
2021 costs) activities
S
ffif 2021 %
3A31H
349)) YN
C# A (At
AR RHWA)  FEEH
Approximately ~ Approximately Provision of car trading platform related services, trading of
1.08% 68,789,000 imported cars, manufacturing and trading of household
products, operation of supermarkets, wholesale of wine and
electrical appliances and investments holding
Fvosn 68,789,000 FBELS AR -
REEnRE - KRR
BY - GRERNY - Wk
BEABU KA
Approximately ~ Approximately  Provision of design, deployment and maintenance of optical
7.01% 69,658,000 fibers services, the provision of other communication
networks services, the provision of environmentally intelligent
technical products and services and the money lending
services
#7019 #69,658000 FelbBRT! - AR -
PRI ST A A s
FRBERIRE RSN Bl
DhRHC R
Approximately  Approximately (i) Design, production and sale of automotive heating,
241% 36,390,000 ventilation and cooling systems and a range of automotive
HVAC components and rendering of services; and (ii) 45
dealership business
B2410 936,390,000 () wtit » 2k BB PO AR -
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Note 1: As at the date of this report, U-Ton Future was ordered to be wound up
by the High Court of Hong Kong on 5 May 2021 in HCCW 57/2021
and the official receiver was appointed as the provisional liquidators of
the company. Please refer to note 36 of the section headed “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statement” of this report and the
announcements of U-Ton Future for further details.

Note 2: As at the date of this report, based on the announcements of Xiezhong
International, a proposal for the privatisation of Xiezhong International
by the Brilliance International Holding Limited and Golden Fair
Chemical (Holding) Limited by way of a scheme of arrangement under
Section 86 of the Companies Act was made on 26 February 2021. Please
refer to note 36 of the section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statement” of this report and the announcements of Xiezhong
International for further details.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

There was no definite future plan for material investments or acquisition of
material capital assets as at 31 March 2021.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries and Affiliated
Companies

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Significant Investments Held” in
this report, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or affiliated companies during the year end 31 March 2021.

Charges of assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no short-term secured borrowings (as
at 31 March 2020 amounting to approximately HK$9,924,000, which were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s trade receivables with the same amount
as that of the outstanding borrowings).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021
(2020: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to recognised standards of corporate governance
principles and practices has always been one of the top priorities of the
Company. The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the
areas that lead to the success of the Company and in balancing the interests
of shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is devoted to
ongoing enhancements of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles
and practices.

The Board has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code Provisions”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company had complied with all provisions of the Code Provisions.

Code Provision A.6.7

Pursuant to code Provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-executive
Directors should attend the annual general meeting of the Company to
develop a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders.
However, Mr. Ting Tit Cheung and Mr. Lo Chun Pong, the independent
non-executive Directors, did not attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 30 July 2020 due to other business engagements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transaction by
Director of the Company. Having made specific enquiries to all the
Directors, the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 March
2021.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
Board comprises nine Directors, of which three are executive Directors and
six are independent non-executive Directors. In addition, a list containing
the names of the Directors and their roles and functions is available on the
websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Zhiyi (Chairman)

Mr. Xiong Cong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cai Si
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ting Tit Cheung

Mr. Chan Chi Kuen

Mr. Lo Chun Pong

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 11 May 2021)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 11 May 2021)
Mr. Ning Rui (appointed on 11 May 2021)

Up to the date of this annual report, there was no change in the composition
of the Board. The biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 9 to 13.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the
Company’s affairs, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-
term strategies and appointing and supervising senior management to ensure
that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance with the
objective of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  to review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v)  to review the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain responsibilities
are delegated to various Board committees which have been established by
the Board to deal with different aspects of the Company’s affairs. Unless
otherwise specified in their respective written terms of reference as approved
by the Board, these Board committees are governed by the Company’s
articles of association as well as the Board’s policies and practices (in so far as
the same are not in conflict with the provisions contained in the articles of
association). With the new composition of members of the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee, the
independent non-executive Directors will be able to effectively devote their
time to perform the duties required by the respective Board committees.
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The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing its strategies
and the day-to-day operation to the management of the Company under the
leadership of the executive Directors. Clear guidance has been made as to the
matters that should be reserved to the Board for its decision which include
matters on, inter alia, capital, finance and financial reporting, internal
controls, communication with shareholders, Board membership, delegation
of authority and corporate governance.

The Chief Financial Officer and/or Company Secretary or secretary of the
board committee attended all regular Board Meetings and Board Committee
Meetings to advise on accounting and financial, corporate governance and
statutory compliance matters. Senior management has formal or informal
contact with the Board Members as and when necessary.

Board papers and minutes are made available for inspection by the Directors
and Board Committee Members upon reasonable request. The Company
responded as promptly as possible to any queries raised by the Directors.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of financial position
and financial performance of the Group. The financial statements set out on
pages 86 to 167 were prepared on the basis set out in note 2 to the financial
statements. Financial results of the Group are announced in a timely manner
in accordance with statutory and/or regulatory requirements. The declaration
of reporting responsibility issued by the external auditors of the Company
on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 81 to 85.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications , or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent non-executive
Directors has submitted a written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming
their independence and has undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon
as practicable if there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may
affect their independence. The Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of their independence. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board
meetings, contribute to the development of strategies and policies and make
sound judgment in various aspects. They will take lead when potential
conflicts of interest arise. They are also members of various Board
committees and devote sufficient amount of time and attention to the affairs
of the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board
meetings will be held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve the
active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. Notices of not less than fourteen
days will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with
an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for regular board
meetings.

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged
by means of circulation of written resolutions.

The attendance of individual Directors at Board Meetings (BM), Audit
Committee Meetings (ACM), Nomination Committee Meetings (NCM),
Remuneration Committee Meetings (RCM) and Annual General Meeting
(AGM) during the financial year is set out below:

Directors BM
A
H ik
Executive Directors
L REE
SU Zhiyi ff 5 —* 3/3
XIONG Cong fEHE * 3/3
CAI Si Z& 1/3
LI Neng 2= fE ** 3/4
ZHAO Minhao i & 5 ** 4/4
ZHAO Yeyong i ZE 5 ** 414
Independent Non-executive Directors
B I AT
TING Tit Cheung T #5 517
CHAN Chi Kuen & HE 6/7
LO Chun Pong E#RI 717
YAU Pak Yue b Fij -
CHUNG Wai Man $fi{# [ -

NING Rui %7 *+ -

* Appointed on 16 September 2020
o Resigned on 16 September 2020
***  Appointed on 11 May 2021
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HH R 47 2 I R R A B -

B IE 5% A1 8 8 ) 8
TSN TR

A BRI R > HRE SRR ER G e FRER

Gadk - REZEEGH - FE B G IACUE
AERE I AT

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

W kA B W
ACM NCM RCM AGM
EREREYT REZEHEG FiNEAES it 3 2 A
ik ik ik N
- 2/2 1/1 1/1
- 2/2 1/1 1/1
_ _ - 1/1
3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
* A 20204F9 A 16 H#EZAT
o 7202049 H 16 H &

- 202145 A 11 HEZAT
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors attended training sessions which place emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors have provided record of training attendance and the Company
will continue to arrange and/or fund the training in accordance with the
Code Provisions.

According to the records of training maintained by the Company Secretary,
during the financial year under review, all the current Directors pursued
continuous professional development and relevant details are set out below:

Directors

g

Executive Directors

BATE R

SU Zhiyi fif i —*
XIONG Cong fET *

CAI Si %l

LI Neng ZE g

ZHAO Minhao i & 5 **
ZHAO Yeyong it HE 55 *

Independent Non-executive Directors
Bor e AT R

TING Tit Cheung T #{5

CHAN Chi Kuen P &

LO Chun Pong J# K8

YAU Pak Yue B {F i

CHUNG Wai Man S [ **

NING Rui % *+*

*

Appointed on 16 September 2020
e Resigned on 16 September 2020
***  Appointed on 11 May 2021

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the Code Provisions, the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should be segregated
and should not be performed by the same individual. Since 16 September
2020, Mr. Su Zhiyi was appointed as the chairman to provide leadership to
the Board and Mr. Xiong Cong was appointed as the chief executive officer.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
directors are laid down in the Company’s Article of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors. The appointment letters of independent non-executive
Directors have been renewed on 10 February 2021.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors appointed on 11 May 2021 has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year commencing
from 11 May 2021, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting and until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other. Such term is for an
initial term of three years for the executive Directors and one year for the
independent non-executive Directors commencing from the Listing Date,
subject to re-election.

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the power to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
additional Director to the existing Board subject to any maximum number
of Directors, if any, as may be determined by the members in general
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being
will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one
third shall be the number of retiring Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All of these three committees of
the Board are established with defined written terms of reference. The
majority of the members of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and all members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seck independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors on 10 February 2015 with written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph A.5.1 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Its
terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee include, but not limited to
(i) to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular at
least annually; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; (iii) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of Directors.

The nomination committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung, Mr. Chan Chi Kuen, and Mr. Lo
Chun Pong, and two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Su Zhiyi and Mr.
Xiong Cong. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Su Zhiyi.

The Nomination Committee will conduct meeting at least once a year.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the nomination
committee will carry out the selection process by making reference to the
skills, experience, education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates, and also the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations
required for the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the standards
as set forth in Rule 3.08 and Rule 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY

Under the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board, the Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board towards
enhancement of overall performance. With a vision to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company regards increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in achieving a diversity of perspectives
and supporting the attainment of its strategic goals. Appointments of
directors are made on merits while having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

At present, half of the directors on the Board are independent non-executive
Directors. They represent diverse career experience in various enterprises.
They bring with them diverse professional backgrounds. The board
composition reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional development, length of service, knowledge of the Company and
a broad range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board
considers the current line-up has provided the Company with a good balance
and diversity of skills and experience for the requirements of its business.
The Board will continue to review its composition from time to time taking
into consideration board diversity for the requirements and benefits of the
Company’s business.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 10 February 2015 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. The written
terms of reference of the remuneration committee was adopted in compliance
with the Code Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee include, but are not limited
to: (i) making recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group and
(ii) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own remuneration. The
emoluments of executive Directors are determined based on the skills,
knowledge, individual performance as well as contributions, the scope of
responsibility and accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration policy of independent non-executive Directors is to
ensure that the independent non-executive Directors are adequately
compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs
including their participation in respective Board committees. The
emoluments of independent non-executive Directors are determined with
reference to their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends. As
at the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ting Tit Cheung,
Mr. Chan Chi Kuen, Mr. Lo Chun Pong and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Su Zhiyi and Mr. Xiong Cong. The Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee is Mr. Ting Tit Cheung. Details of remuneration
of Directors are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

Up to 31 March 2021, there was no change in the policy and structure of
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and making recommendations to the
Board on determining the annual remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management and other related matters.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Director passed on 10 February 2015 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules. A revised set
of terms of reference of the Audit Committee (the “Revised Audit
Committee Terms of Reference”) has been adopted by the Company during
the year to get in line with the recent amendments to the Code Provisions
and the recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Terms of Reference are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The primary duties of the audit committee include but are not limited to (i)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor, (ii) reviewing the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting and (iii) overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting, risk management and internal control
systems.

In relation to (iii), the Audit Committee is:

—  to review the Company’s financial controls, and to review the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems;

—  to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
management and to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have effective systems. The discussion should include the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial functions;

—  to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

—  where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal audit
programme, ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

—  to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

—  to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

—  to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the external auditor’s management letter;

—  to report to the Board on the matters set out in the Code Provisions;

—  to consider other matters, as required by the Board, to be performed
by the Audit Committee.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Chi Kuen, Mr.
Ting Tit Cheung and Mr. Lo Chun Pong. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Chan Chi Kuen, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee has considered
and reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed matters in relation to internal control and financial
reporting with the management. The Audit Committee considers that the
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2021 are in compliance with
the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate
disclosures have been duly made.

The Audit Committee has held a meeting with the external auditors on 30
June 2021 to (i) review the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021; (ii) discuss the internal control and financial reporting matters of the
Group; and (iii) review the financial statements and the auditor’s report and
recommend to the board for approval. All members of the committee
attended that meeting. The Audit Committee will meet at least twice a year
to review the financial results and reports, financial reporting and compliance
procedures, the report of the internal auditor on the Company’s internal
control and risk management review and processes, and the re-appointment
of the external auditor. Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee of the Company, the minutes of meetings were circulated to all
Committee Members. The minutes were kept by the Company Secretary.

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board has not taken a different view
from the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting records and preparing the financial statements of each financial
period, which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Directors have made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable, and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The relevant responsibility statement from the external auditors is set out in
the Independent Auditors” Report on pages 81 to 85.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and information to
the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Group put to the
Board for approval.
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The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the longer
term and the strategy for delivering its objectives are explained in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out in pages 14 to 23 in this report.

The section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” has explained the
factors affecting business performance and outlook of the Group. Financial
statements have been presented in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of Listing Rules, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the total remuneration paid or payable to
the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, for annual audit services totaling
approximately HK$1.2 million.

Analysis of remuneration paid or payable to the auditor is set out below:

AR A DR T A DR ) R B 2 B
IR 09 SR s I A i 4t 28 14 22 23 LAY [ A5 FIL 7 iy B
ST ) R RRE o

A 3 v oy B 0 AT | — T R S A AR T 2 2
KRB FR IR -« MBS IRERCRIE BT - &
5 P S ) T A s O R R A 4R

A B T <

WA 2021 4F 3 731 HOALAFJE » AOY AR 4R B2 9 1 IR
B C A BB AR 20 R A S 22 K w1 S5 T 1) T
GRS 1.2 T BT

A B AT SRR S A SR ) M < 0 A s T

Items of auditor’s services % B IR 75 JE H 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
20214E3 131 H 202043131 H

Audit Services E: 3% 3 HKS$’000 HK$’000
F#c THsIC

Annual audit service AR IR 1,150 1,344
Total s 1,150 1,344

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Chi Lai was appointed on 18 May 2015 to be our company
secretary.

Mr. Chau is also our company’s chief financial officer, Mr. Chau has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. His appointment and
removal is subject to Board’s approval. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary to ensure the Board procedures, and
all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. For the financial year
ended 31 March 2021, the company secretary has complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. To this end, the Board oversees and approves the
Group’s risk management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks
that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives and risk appetite,
with the main purpose for provision of reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss rather than absolute elimination of the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.

Reporting to the Board, the Audit Committee is delegated with the authority
and responsibility for ongoing monitoring and evaluation of the effectiveness
of the relevant systems. In December 2015, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee were updated to formally incorporate the risk management
into its scope of duties.

Areas of responsibility of each business units are clearly defined with specific
limits of authority in place to ensure effective segregation of duties.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, maintenance of proper accounting records, assurance of
the reliability of financial information for internal use or publication and
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. Risk management
system, internal control measures and procedures are continuously under
review and being improved where necessary in response to changes in
business, operating and regulatory environments. Furthermore, a
Whistleblowing Policy has been adopted by the Group, with the authority
and responsibility being delegated to the Audit Committee. Such
Whistleblowing Policy is for employees and those who are in business with
the Group such as customers and suppliers to raise concerns, in confidence,
with our Internal Audit and any and all relevant complaints received may
then be referred to the Audit Committee and/or Co-chairman of the
Company about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures covering all controls, including
financial, operational and compliance and risk management, and the
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training of staff of the
Company’s financial reporting and treasury function. Confirmations from
management in the form of certification that risk management and internal
control procedures are functioning effectively to meet the respective financial
reporting, operational and compliance needs, are submitted by business unit
heads and reporting to the Audit Committee.

Based on the result of the review as reported by the Audit Committee, in
respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors considered
that the risk management and internal control systems and procedures of the
Group were effective and adequate.
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INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

The Internal Audit Department reviews the effectiveness of the internal
control system. The Internal Audit Department carries out an annual risk
assessment on each identified audit area and devises an annual audit plan
according to the nature of business and risk exposures, and the scope of work
includes financial and operational reviews. The audit plan is reviewed and
agreed by the Audit Committee. In addition to the agreed schedule of work,
the Internal Audit Department conducts other review and investigative work
as may be required. The Audit Committee receives summary reports from
the Internal Audit Department periodically while the results of internal audit
reviews and responses to the recommended corrective actions are also
reported to the executive Directors. The Internal Audit Department is also
responsible for following up the corrective actions to ensure that satisfactory
controls are maintained.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST DECLARATION

The Group adopted conflict of interest declaration policy as one of the
important internal control procedures. Employees are required to provide
annual declaration of conflict of interest, and strictly comply with the policy
to ensure that the Group and its customers, business partners, shareholders,
employees and business community of the transactions and dealings are in
line with the highest standards of business conduct and ethics.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group established a whistleblowing policy for employees under
confidentiality to file complaint and report any suspected misconduct, fraud
and irregularities, in an orderly manner. The Internal Audit Department is
responsible for receiving, reviewing complaint and report, to investigate, to
draw conclusion and to make appropriate recommendations for
improvement, and inform the relevant departments senior management to
implement corrective action. Internal Audit Department reports twice a year
their findings on complaints to the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, sharcholder(s) holding
not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid-up capital at the end of
deposit of requisition and having the right to vote at general meetings can
submit a requisition to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
(EGM?).

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, namely,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong or the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Unit 1705-07, 17/F, K11 Atelier, Victoria Dockside, 18
Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Shareholders who
wish to put enquiries to the Board can send their enquiries to the Company
Secretary who will ensure these enquiries to be properly directed to the
Board. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available. Corporate
communication of the Company will be provided to Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose the language (either
English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the corporate communications (in
hard copy or through electronic means).

All resolutions put forward at an EGM will be taken by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Shareholders who are unable to attend the EGM can appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the general meeting. The Chairman of the
EGM will provide explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a
poll and then answer questions (if any) from the shareholders regarding
voting by way of poll. In addition, the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after the EGM.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and investing public.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its corporate publications including
annual reports and public announcements. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities for the year ended 31 March 2021 has been provided
in this annual report. While the Annual General Meeting provides a valuable
forum for direct communication between the Board and its shareholders, the
Company also maintains its website (www.ktl.com.hk) to provide an
alternative communication channel for the public and its shareholders. All
corporate communication and Company’s latest updates are available on the
Company’s website for public’s information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, there has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has its registered
office at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and principal place of business at Unit 1705-07,
17/F, K11 Atelier, Victoria Dockside, 18 Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risk and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s businesses, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set on pages 14 to 23 of this Annual
Report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
and the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 91.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 168. This summary does not form part
of the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 89 of this annual report and note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 June 2014. As
at 31 March 2021, the Company’s distributable reserves, calculated under
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$204.5
million.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group is affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, no
donations made (2020: approximately HK$88,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year is as
follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total
Sales Purchases

The largest customer 38.0%
Five largest customers in aggregate 90.6%
The largest supplier 45.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 93.3%

At no time during the Year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the major subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at the end of reporting period are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company who hold office during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Zhiyi (Chairman)

Mr. Xiong Cong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cai Si

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ting Tit Cheung

Mr. Chan Chi Kuen

Mr. Lo Chun Pong

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 11 May 2021)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 11 May 2021)
Mr. Ning Rui (appointed on 11 May 2021)

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 16 September 2020,
which may be terminated by, not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other and is subject to termination provisions
therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of our Directors as set forth
in the Articles of Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year commencing
from 10 February 2020, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting and until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other. The appointments
letters of independent non-executive Directors have been renewed on 10
February 2021.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors appointed on 11 May
2021 has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 11 May 2021, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meeting and until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by cither party on the
other.

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within 1 year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the

existing Directors shall retire from office, at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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Disclosure of Directors’ Information Pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)
and 13.51B of the Listing Rules

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, there were
certain changes of the Directors.

Mr. Li Neng resigned as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
an executive Director, and no longer served as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 16 September 2020.

Mr. Zhao Minhao resigned as an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”), and no longer
served as a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and an authorised representative with effect from 16 September
2020.

Mr. Zhao Yeyong resigned as an executive Director with effect from 16
September 2020.

Mr. Su Zhiyi has been appointed as the Chairman, an executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 16 September 2020.

Mr. Xiong Cong has been appointed as an executive Director, the Chief
Executive Officer, a member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee and an authorised representative with effect from
16 September 2020.

Mr. Cai Si has been appointed as an executive Director with effect from 16
September 2020.

Mr. Yau Pak Yue has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 May 2021.

Mr. Chung Wai Man has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 May 2021.

Mr. Ning Rui has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 11 May 2021.

Details of the above changes of Directors and their biographies have been
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 16 September 2020
and 11 May 2021 respectively.

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr.
Su Zhiyi, Mr. Xiong Cong, Mr. Cai Si, Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Mr. Chung Wai
Man and Mr. Ning Rui, who being eligible, will retire from office at the
AGM and offer themselves for re-clection at the AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and all of them are considered to be independent under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest (either
directly or indirectly) subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any
time during the year under review.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 9 to 13 of this annual report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest subsisted
at the end of the year under review or at any time during the year under

review.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement which may result in the Company issuing shares
was entered into or existed during the financial year, other than Share
Option Scheme.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s existing Share Option Scheme was approved for adoption
pursuant to a written resolution of all of our Shareholders passed on 10
February 2015 for the purpose to provide our Company with a flexible
means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to eligible participants and for such other purposes as the
Board approve from time to time.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are extracted as follows:
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Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions the Eligible Participants (as
defined in paragraph “who may join” below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in our Company with the view to
achieving the following objectives:

(i)  motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(i)  attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Who may join

Our Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for
such number of new shares as the Board may determine at an exercise price
determined in accordance with paragraph “Price of shares” below to the
following (the “Eligible Participants”):

(i)  any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of our
Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i)  any directors (including executive, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) of our Company or any of its
subsidiaries; and

(iii)  any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, agents and related
entities to our Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to our
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer to grant an option
to subscribe for shares may be accepted in respect of less than the number of
shares for which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board
lot of dealing in shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof
and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate offer document
constituting the acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be
deemed to have been irrevocably declined.
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Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue immediately following completion of the Global Offering,
being 17,260,000 shares, excluding for this purpose shares which would have
been issuable pursuant to the Adjustment Option and options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme (or any
other share option schemes of our Company). Subject to the issue of a
circular by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules
from time to time, our Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as of the
date of the approval by our Shareholders in general meeting; and/or

(i)  grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by our Board. The circular issued by our
Company to our Shareholders shall contain a generic description of
the specified Eligible Participants who may be granted such options,
the number and terms of the options to be granted, the purpose of
granting options to the specified Eligible Participants with an
explanation as to how the options serve such purpose, the information
required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the disclaimer required under
Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company
at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options shall be granted under any schemes of our Company (including
the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
shall be adjusted, in such manner as the auditors of our Company or an
approved independent financial adviser shall certify to be appropriate, fair
and reasonable in the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company in accordance with paragraph “Other Information — Share
Option Scheme — Effect of alterations to capital”’in Appendix V to the
Prospectus whether by way of consolidation, capitalisation issue, rights issue,
sub-division or reduction of the share capital of our Company but in no
event shall exceed the limit prescribed in this paragraph.
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Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up
to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the date
of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be
subject to:

(i)  the issue of a circular by our Company containing the identity of the
Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options to be
granted (and options previously granted to such participant) and the
information as required under Rules 17.03(4) and 17.06 of the Listing
Rules and/or such other requirements as prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time; and

(ii)  the approval of our sharcholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (or his associates
if such Eligible Participant is a connected person) abstaining from
voting. The numbers and terms (including the exercise price) of
options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before our
sharcholders” approval and the date of our Board meeting at which
our Board proposes to grant the options to such Eligible Participant
shall be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the
subscription price of the Shares. Our Board shall forward to such
Eligible Participant an offer document in such form as our Board may
from time to time determine.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as our Board in its
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less than

the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a day on
which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.
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Restrictions on the times of grant of Options

A grant of options may not be made after a price sensitive event has occurred
or a price sensitive matter has been the subject of a decision until such price
sensitive information has been published pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. In particular, no options may be granted during the period
commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of:

(i) the date of our Board meeting (as such date to first notified to the
Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules) for the approval
of our Company’s annual, half-year, quarterly or other interim period
results (whether or not required under the Listing Rules); and

(i)  the deadline for our Company to publish an announcement of its
annual or half-year, or quarterly or other interim period results
(whether or not required under the Listing Rules), and ending on the
date of actual publication of the results announcement.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option is personal to the grantee and may be exercised or treated as
exercised, as the case may be, in whole or in part. No grantee shall in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal or
beneficial) in favour of any third party over or in relation to any option or
attempt so to do.

Time of exercise of Option and duration of the Share Option Scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the Option is deemed
to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that
date. The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by our Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. No option may be
granted more than 10 years after the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by our Company in general meeting
or by our Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of its adoption. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance targets as our Board
may then specify in the grant before any options granted under the Share
Option Scheme can be exercised.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 31 March 2021,
no options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Apart from the aforesaid share option schemes, at no time during the year
ended 31 March 2021 was any of the Company and its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors, or their spouses or children under the age 18, had any right to
subscribe for the shares in, or debentures of, the Company, or had exercise
any such right.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES AND INTEREST IN
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company had any other interests and short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code of the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/ OR SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, so far as was known to the Directors, the following
persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

B L B RATBON B By - R BRIy B A
Fr v 2 M A B 00 A B 6 0 1 2 e i

2021 F3 H 31 H » AL A EE 5 % S ATEA
B AR ) w ECAR W v ) (5 28 L RE IR B30 e A 5
XV ) ZATART A ~ AR B A 003 B8 55 o A A T At
HRAERE 27 B B8 A0k 1) 265 XV o5 7 K 8 40 S ZE A AR 2
A R B 38 BT 2 W i B ko (0 5 AR 4 i o T U1 e 4l
A BRRSCHCE M B T 2 HE R SR ) > BUR
P8 I TN B B 2R 352 WAL A RZ A BT 48 2 IR 4%
h 2 i R R > SRR TR B T a2 A e < )
JEE AR 2y ) S 6 58 It 2 2 BOIRAT

2 BB B A N\ R A 2 ] i B R R
e Z B BBk A

202143731 H » SEEFHFTR - DN AL HEE (GE
H AR T EFEATECN B BRAM) A AR N 7 B 403 s AR B
B rf > A soBl AR A AR AR R SO B 915
XV HBEE 2 S5 3 4 e SCAB 1) AR ) B 7R (0 HE 25 o ik
B BB Bk AR RS IR B B IS 336 T AR A FIZH
FENBCRZ MRS SR g

Capacity/
Name of Shareholder nature of interest
Jit 3R 44 1% -2ipd Er 2

HNA Aviation Investment
Holding Company Lrd®ew D (&1

HNA Aviation (Hong Kong)
Holdings Co., Limited

U2 (Fris) 2k
FHIRAH

HNA Tourism (International)
Investment Group Co., Limited

TR SE (BB ) $E 4R
HIRAT

Beneficial owner

J.E £/ 2PN

Interest of a controlled
corporation

SE R B

Interest of a controlled
corporation

SZHE 1 R i

Approximately

percentage of

Number of shareholding in

shares our Company

A AR 2 ) J i Yy

ety i H WA E 2 b

129,372,494 74.96%
(long position)
129,372,494 i
()

129,372,494 74.96%
(long position)
129,372,494 i
()

129,372,494 74.96%
(long position)
129,372,494 i
()
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R

Approximately

percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in

Name of Shareholder nature of interest shares our Company

A2 v SR Y

i 3 44 Lty Wi 2 TR Bt B H WxIE 2 e

HNA Tourism International Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited corporation (long position)
AL G S I R (e i ) A i e AR 129,372,494 fB
AR ()

HNA Tourism Group Limited Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
T i A 4E 19 A R F corporation (long position)
SEAE A P E A 129,372,494 i
()

HNA Group Co., Ltd. Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
L 48 B A B ) corporation (long position)
SEVERL MR AR 129,372,494 i
()

Hainan Traffic Administration Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
Holding Co. Ltd. corporation (long position)
i R S PE AT R W A [ R i 129,372,494 B
()

Tang Dynasty Development Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
(Yangpu) Company Limited corporation (long position)
R R (R ) A7 R ) SZAE A I A 129,372,494 i
(hF)

Hainan Province Cihang Interest of a controlled 129,372,494 74.96%
Foundation corporation (long position)
G B RN i R SZAE T I 4 129,372,494 fi%
()

China Huarong Asset Management Security interest 129,372,494 74.96%
Co., Ltd. Now? HEHPRE 22 (long position)
I 2 A 129,372,494 i
A IR ] ) ()
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Notes:

1. HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd. is a wholly owned
subsidiary of HNA Aviation (Hong Kong) Holdings Co., Limited which
is owned as to 51.28% by HNA Tourism (International) Investment
Group Co., Limited. HNA Tourism (International) Investment Group
Co., Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of HNA Tourism International
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited. HNA Tourism International (Hong Kong)
Co., Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of HNA Tourism Group
Limited (“if it ik 2% % M 4 f 2> 7). HNA Group Co., Ltd. owns
69.96% of HNA Tourism Group Limited (“ 1 il jig 7% 5 H 4 FR A 7 7).
HNA Group Co., Ltd. is owned as to 70% by Hainan Traffic
Administration Holding Co. Ltd.. Hainan Traffic Administration
Holding Co. Ltd. is owned as to 50% by Tang Dynasty Development
(Yangpu) Company Limited. Tang Dynasty Development (Yangpu)
Company Limited is owned as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang
Foundation.

To the best of the Directors’” knowledge, information and belief, after 31
August 2018, Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange
Foundation Limited directly held 100% shareholdings of Pan-American
Aviation Holding Company. Pan-American Aviation Holding Company
directly held 98% sharcholdings of Tang Dynasty Development Company
Limited which in turn directly held 35% shareholdings of Tang Dynasty
Development (Yangpu) Company Limited* (% 5 % & (VEIH) B RA
") .

2. According to the disclosure of interest notice filed by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. on 26 February 2020 (“CHAM Notice”),
Option Best Holdings Limited (“Option Best”) held direct interest in
129,372,494 underlying Shares and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Linewear Assets Limited (“Linewear Assets”). Linewear Assets is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited
(“HIFH”). HIFH is owned as to 51% by Camellia Pacific Investment
Holding Limited (“CPIH”). CPIH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Huarong International Holdings Limited (“CHIH”). CHIH is held as to
11.90% by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd.
(“HZIM”) and as to 88.10% by Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (‘HRE”).
Each of HZIM and HRE is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd.. Accordingly, Linewear Assets, HIFH,
CPIH, CHIH, HZIM, HRE and China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the underlying Shares held by
Option Best by virtue of the provisions of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company) who had interests and short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

* for identification purpose only

i

1. HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Led. 4 ¥ il
fiLzs (i) A IR ] — R EHE A ] > R
PRI AR 3 (BRI £ 4E FA PR R 51.28% 1
4 o MEATIRSE (B ) $0EE BA IR B iR e
I k) A7 R v 9 A AT 24 W) o TR S
P (i) A PR R 2 T TR 0 B0 P AT B ] Y A
B IS 23 i) o VAL 4 A PR il e A VR T i 2 4 P A
PR2x 71 69.96% ik o MEALAE B A RO ) i o 527
PERATBRA R 70% 4R » 1275 dBE R 30 (R
AT PR FIH5AT 5000 HE ST - T B0 (PEIR) AT PR
A i R AL S AR B B R A 65% MER

BT - T R - 201848 31 HAR
REAUAV J7 SCBAC L 8 A PR 7 EL RS A Pan-
American Aviation Holding Company 2 100% ¢ # - Tfi
Pan-American Aviation Holding Company T 1% 5 & 5% J
BEIEAT B 7] 2 98% HHE » T T 38 B A IR A R H
EHRRA R B G AR T 2 35% BHE -

2. R4 o I S il A R A R | 2020 4F 2 H
26 H fE K 2 HE 4 Bl 78 388 50 (1 b B ZE Rl 0 ) »
Option Best Holdings Limited ([ Option Besc])  #F &
129,372,494 B B I 00y & B HEME i » 3 /% Linewear
Assets Limited ([ Linewear Assets ) 2 4= & [ff Ji§ /A 7 o
Linewear Assets /4 Huarong International Financial Holdings
Limited ([HIFH ) 2 4 % K} & 2 ® > MiHIFH &
Camellia Pacific Investment Holding Limited ([ CPIH ) #
£51% M  %i o CPIH 4 China Huarong International
Holdings Limited ([ CHIH) 2 4= ¥ [} )& /A 7] « CHIH
tH Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd.
(THZIM ) % e il #3647 BR 3 AE 2 ) ([ 2l v 2 )
53 FREAT 11.90% J2 88.100% HE #i « HZIM J% 3 il & 2
A 2 B T A A R R 2 A
oy e BRI s KRR SR A B ARG 2 R OC > Linewear
Assets * HIFH * CPIH * CHIH ~ HZIM ~ 3 jil & 2 &
e e 3 Rl IR O AT B A WL £ 7 Option
Best AT ZAHBH B 03 P AT B4 o

M b SCRT 2 & A 2021 4E3 A 31 H » EEIEA
A AT oA N B (AN 7] 3 2 e 32 SAT
N BBRAN) AR ) i 43 s AR 8 I 3 A AR I o 2 I
BRI 5 XV BB 2 S 343 B 28 ) AR N W 3 7% 2 M RS
FORA - SR PRI M B AR BIEE 336 RFEA AR )
FRE AT B R A 2 R RS SR -
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has made pension scheme contributions and Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out
in note 3 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has any
other conflict of interests with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all costs,
expenses, losses or liabilities, which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution and discharge of the duties of his office, to the extent as permitted
by laws.

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance which has been
in force throughout the financial year and up to date of this report to provide
appropriate insurance cover for Directors” of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found in the
Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 24 to 37 in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of the management, the Group has complied with
the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
operations of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

This annual report and the financial results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting policies
and practices adopted by the Company, risk management and internal
control systems with senior management members of the Company.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to attend
the annual general meeting to be held on 19 August 2021, the register of
members will be closed from 16 August 2021 to 19 August 2021, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrars, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 pm on 13 August 2021.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting will be held on 30 July 2021. Shareholders should
refer to details regarding the annual general meeting in the circular of the
Company and the notice of meeting and form of proxy accompanying thereto.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 25 February 2021 as the Company and PwC
could not reach a consensus on the audit fee for the year ended 31 March
2021. The Company is incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands and
to the knowledge of the Board there is no requirement under the laws of
Cayman Islands for the resigning auditor to confirm whether or not there is
any circumstance connected with their resignation which they consider
should be brought to the attention of the shareholders and creditors of the
Company. PwC has therefore not issued such confirmation.
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The Board, with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, has
resolved to appoint Ernst & Young (“EY”) as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 25 February 2021, to fill the vacancy following the
resignation of PwC and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

For the details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
February 2021 published on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
website of the Company. The accompanying financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRS have been audited by EY.

EY shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
EY as Auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

The Board and the audit committee of the Company confirmed that, save
for the audit fee for the financial year ending 31 March 2021 as aforesaid,
there is no disagreement between the Company and PwC, and there are no
matters or circumstances in respect of the change of auditor of the Company
that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders and creditors of
the Company.

By order of the Board

Su Zhiyi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG Report”) of
Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited ("Hifood” or the “Group”) (Stock
code: 442), presenting its management approach and performance on
environmental and social aspects.

The Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) acknowledges its
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this report. The Board confirms that
it has reviewed and approved the report which, to the best of its knowledge,
addresses the material topics and fairly presents their ESG management
approach and performance.

Reporting Guideline

The reporting principles of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance, and
Consistency underpinned the preparation of this ESG report. This report
has been prepared in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (HKEX). Data in this report have been
checked and analysed to explicate year-on-year changes and is presented in a
way that allows for meaningful comparison. This report is published in both
Chinese and English. In case of any discrepancy between the two versions,
the English version shall prevail.

Reporting Period and Scope

The report covers the performance of the Group’s manufacturing and sale of
jewellery products business. The data and narrative information included in
this report represents the Group’s performance from 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2021. Quantitative environmental data during this reporting period
cover operations in China also. Both the quantitative environmental data
and social and environmental narrative include operations in both Hong
Kong and China.

Feedback

The Group has taken into consideration the interests of its stakeholders to
the greatest extent possible in compilation of this report. Your thoughts and
feedback regarding what you would like to be incorporated in future reports
are welcome. Please contact us at:

Address: Unit 1705-07, 17/F, K11 Atelier, Victoria Dockside,
18 Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2627 7088
Fax: +852 2363 8787
Email: enquiry@ktl.com.hk
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WAl : 8522627 7088

¥ 0 48522363 8787

B :  enquiry@kd.com.hk
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ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group’s core business is sale of fine jewellery. Hifood deeply recognises
its responsibility in delivering proper management in ESG issues aside from
bringing about quality best products and services to its customers. The
Board, together with different business units of Hifood in Hong Kong and
China, are fully accountable for overseeing the Group’s ESG policies and
performance. The collaboration between various parties is coordinated by
the Human Resources and Administration (“HR”) Department. Through
systematically formulated policies and practices, we are committed to
managing ESG-related risks and opportunities that are material to the Group
and pursue sustainable development across environmental, economic and
social aspects.

Customer-oriented

EFE#E L

Integrity

EBAT

Innovative

AR A

Team

EIECEEN(E
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Environmental Protection

The Group is dedicated to
protecting the environment
through a series of energy and
resource conservation

practices. Waste recycling is

prioritised in our production
plants to reduce water
consumption. We monitor
our emissions with care to
ensure strict compliance with
relevant regulatory standards.
We continuely implement
green-office initiatives and
stress the importance of
environmental protection to
our employees.

AL @ﬁﬁﬁ"tﬂ #5

e
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Product Responsibility

The Group has been striving
to improve the quality of its
jewellery products and
services. To ensure quality
excellence, we use an ISO
9001:2015 certified quality
management system and
follow a set of comprehensive
quality assurance procedures
and strict supplier selection
criteria. We effectively
communicate with our
customers to ensure a high
level of customer satisfaction.

ASEI B PR TR EL A
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Talent Management

ANA BB

The contributions of our
employees are important to
our success. The Group aims
to provide a safe and healthy
working environment to our
employees. We attract and
retain talents to work with us
by offering competitive
remuneration packages. We
ensure that each individual is
respected and promote
inclusion and diversity in our
workplace. We offer our
employees appropriate and

diversified training and
opportunities to help them in
their career development.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Understanding the concerns of our stakeholders, meeting their expectations,
and balancing their interests is important to our operations and promoting
sustainability. Through various engagement channels, we identify and
address the concerns of our internal and external stakeholders.

it &2 M

TR R R~ R A S U B A A S
1 M) it 3 A B S S AR A W] FR AR R T r L
R A2 B > FRAM AT S B Ry S A
Fry & B A

Investors and

Employees Customers The Government Community Shareholders
1 & %P BRE id BEE RIBR
Concerned Topics
B
*  Training and development *  Product quality *  Employee protection ~ *  Helping people in need ¢ Corporate governance
ST & 7 fhE e 5 fr il HOAREAL E
*  Occupational health and safety *  Business ethics *  Operational risk
I R B % 4 [HE ks gl
*  Remuneration * Business operation
Hi R
*  Workplace discrimination * Disclosure
Tt LA hee
Engagement Channel
SHRIE
*  Labour union and Equality *  Product advertisement ¢ Compliance with laws ¢ Support charity *  Annual General
Working Group and exhibitions and regulations organisations Meeting
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OUR ENVIRONMENT A W B B%

Hifood continues to integrate sustainability into its business. We are committed
to continually improving our environmental management and reducing our
impacts to the environment.

Environmental Management

The Group recognises the environmental impacts generated at its operations.
To minimise the negative impact of its production operations in China and
office-based operations in Hong Kong on the environment, the Group
consistently monitors its operational processes carefully to ensure strict
compliance with relevant laws and regulations' in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”). The Group’s management body takes the overall
responsibility for guaranteeing that environmentally friendly and resources
saving measures are incorporated into the Group’s daily operations. We
advocate recycling, ensure environmental compliance and put green
initiatives into action in our offices, striving to improve environmental
performance of our operations in both our offices and production plant.

Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for environment-
related laws and regulations.
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To the best of our knowledge, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
during the year under review.

Resources Consumption
Energy

Business operations of the Group consume resources including energy, water
and packaging materials.

The Group’s total direct and indirect energy consumption comprised of
89,452.77 litres of petrol for vehicle use and 180,723.07 kWh of purchased
electricity respectively during the year under review. The total energy
consumption was about 3,501.62 Gigajoules (“GJ”), with petrol being the
major component which contributed more than 81% of total energy
consumption. The total energy intensity was approximately 159.16 GJ/
person during the year under review.

The Group’s greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions include direct emissions
from fuel consumption (Scope 1) and indirect emissions from the use of
electricity (Scope 2). During the year under review, the total GHG emissions
were 383.27 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e”), with Scope 1
and Scope 2 emissions accounting for approximately 62% (237.94 tCO,e)
and 38% (145.34 tCO,e) respectively. The emission intensity was
approximately 17.42 tCO,e/person.

Energy Consumption (GJ)
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‘Water Resources

During the year under review, the Group consumed approximately 3,410.88
m? of municipal water for both domestic and production use, with an
intensity of approximately 155.04 m?/person. The Group did not have any
issue in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose.

Packaging Materials

Engaged in the manufacture of fine jewelleries, the Group consumes paper
materials for finished products packaging. During the year, a total of 669.57
kg of paper packaging materials were used. No plastic packaging materials
were used.

Resources Conservation
Green Office — Let’'s GO

The Group devotes efforts in conserving energy and natural resources. We
have continued to implement a green office scheme named “Let’s Go” this
year for our offices in Hong Kong. A series of energy and resources saving
initiatives were adopted to integrate environmental sustainability into our
daily operations. Stickers and posters are placed to raise employees’ awareness
of the need for environmental protection and to promote green habits in

office.
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Emission Control
Air Emissions

The Group’s air emissions come from petrol combustion by private vehicles
in operation in Hong Kong and China. During the year under review, the
Group emitted SOx, NOx and particulate matter amounting to 1.31 kg,
71.14 kg and 5.24 kg respectively.

Fumes are emitted during the process of jewellery polishing in our plants in
China. We use a baghouse and desulphurisation device to remove particles
and neutralise acidic sulphuric gases before discharge. During the year under
review, a qualified third party was appointed to conduct air pollutant
emissions test and inspection to ensure compliance to the Level 2 standard
of Integrated Emission Standard of Air Pollutants of the PRC.

Air Emissions (kg)
KEHBH (AF)

1.31
5.24 X

1

B SOx
ALy

NOx
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Effluent

Domestic sewage and production sewage account for our wastewater
generation. To ensure the sewage discharge meets the regulatory standard,
tests was conducted half-yearly to ensure it meets the requirements of the
permit obtained from the Guangzhou government. We monitor our effluent
discharge to ensure no hazardous effluents are discharged into the

neighbourhood.

To reduce water consumption and wastewater discharge, we recycle the
water used in production processes and reuse for purposes including washing
gypsum moulds. A specialised service provider helps us to collect the small
amount of effluents generated containing metal particles and colorants for
recycling.

Domestic water goes through our three-level treatment facilities before
discharge, in order to strictly comply with the wastewater discharge
standards. We are able to remove more than 80% of pollutants from sewage
such as oil, scrap and organic compounds. Wastewater generated for cooling
the central air-conditioning system are also reused.
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Waste

Hazardous waste such as organic solvents, acidic and alkaline waste are
generated by the production processes of the Group. To minimise its
environmental impacts, the Group has appointed a licensed waste collector
to handle the waste. To reduce the risks of leakage and nuisance, we
separately store and carefully transport our hazardous waste. We maintain
records of collection and transfer of hazardous waste for inspection. Annual
reviews of performance of the contractor are conducted to assure the validity
of license and consistency of the service throughout the contract period.

A series of waste reduction measures are implemented, including recycling of
old furniture, using social media to replace paper-printing for promotion
and providing four different kinds of recycling bins in the office to recycle
metals, paper, plastics and glass.

Since our office in Hong Kong have been moved to our parent company’s
office, data on waste is not available as office garbage is handled by the
management office. We do not record the waste generation in our operations
in China.

Noise Management

We are mindful of the noise pollution our production plants generate. Shock
absorbers and sound insulation systems have been installed to reduce noise
generated. Audits are conducted by the local noise monitoring unit on ad
hoc basis to guarantee that the noise level does not exceed limits.

Plant Site Greening

The Group is concerned about the ecological environment within and
outside the production base and dedicated to continually increasing its
efforts in greening. We have appointed professional personnel to take care of
the plants and foliage to improve the air quality at our production sites and
the community nearby.
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OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Hifood is committed to achieving the finest quality. The Group continues its
efforts on maintaining an effective quality management system and maintains
on-going communication with the customers to improve product and services

quality.

Product Quality

The Group is dedicated to deliver jewellery products of the highest standards
to customers. Our production site is certified with ISO 9001:2015 quality
management system to ensure product quality. An Organisation for Quality
is responsible for monitoring and managing the production process. It is
comprised of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Sales and
Marketing Department, Operational Department and Administration
Department. An annual evaluation is carried out to safeguard the
effectiveness of management system.

Board of Directors
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Sales and
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Organisation for Quality

The Group required employees to obtain certifications and acquired
necessary technical skills for high quality jewellery production. To ensure
premium quality of our products, we carry out quality checks at each
production stage, including inspection of raw materials, semi-finished
products and finished products. A stringent procedure for quality assurance
is in place. All raw materials including gems, diamonds, and precious metals
are inspected before use in production. Our classification and grading of raw
materials are aligned with references to the Chinese national standards issued
by the Standardisation Administration of China. A two-level quality check is
conducted in every quality assurance process and the products are inspected
by different experienced professionals. Any unqualified products are returned
to the production site for correction. Before a product enters the market for
sale, it must pass through all quality inspections.

A G2 1 R IR B A A R R TG A 0 A B R TR T R
MBI HERE  F TR I i L > FRAM I 2525 1 PR BOgE
TTEEARE > W PSR AR - 2 & RR
i o ASE FSAAT Bk R T LUR B R o BT TR R
(AT~ S0 MO B8 ) 1 1A A6 I i3 & AT
MR o JEURE AL 2 B o I O B YR AL PR 2 B A
F14 e ] o 2 A S B P AR o TR B IR A A
PPET WAV R o BB A I E R EEA
TR o A B EAR A SR A T IE o 7
TE £ T 85 1 T A6 ZECE 08 i A7 L R A

2021 Annual Report SEJEHRE 61



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BREL - e REREE

To the best of our knowledge, the Group did not contravene any relevant
laws and regulations?® that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
health, safety, privacy advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress during the year. Our
business does not involve advertising and product labelling. Therefore, these
aspects had no significant impact on our operations.

Enhancing Customer Satisfaction

We respect customers’ feedback as it is critical in providing the finest quality
products and services. We also maintain effective communication with
customers to meet their expectations. To achieve so, we implement a set of
standardised customer compliant handling procedure identifying to handle
complaints in a timely and professional manner. Corresponding departments
including the Quality and Production Engineering Department is in charge
of identifying problems to maintain product quality. The Sales Department
is responsible to communicate with the customers promptly concerning the
complaints. Rectification or preventive measures are taken if applicable after
investigation.

A product recall handling procedure is in place for handling any unqualified
products and to ensure the recall process is effective and efficient. Recalled or
defected products are examined by the Quality and Production Engineering
Department. To assure all products are up to standard, they are repaired
when necessary.

Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to ensure the stability and quality of products by
maintaining an effective supply chain management system. During the year
under review, the Group had a total of 44 suppliers, of which 77% are
located in mainland China. Market search on diamonds, gems and semi-
precious stones is conducted on a regular basis. The Group also collects
quotation from different companies for price evaluation. The procurement
process on polished diamonds, other raw materials and services from
suppliers are under a fair, ethical and equitable screening. A series of supplier
selection criteria including price, product and service quality,
delivery performance, quality consistency and

Supplier Distribution
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Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for product
responsibility-related laws and regulations
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Data and Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Group values data security and privacy of our customers and employees.
We strictly prohibited any disclosure of the Group’s confidential documents
without proper permission. Employee’s obligation on confidentiality remains
valid even after termination of services. When handling with confidential
information, employees must consult their supervisors or department
managers for advice. The Group also values intellectual property rights. A set
of policies and regulations concerning information security are in place to
avoid data leakage and safeguard cybersecurity. All office software in the
Group’s computers is procured from authorised and copyright holders only.

Business Ethics

The Group endorses the highest standards of integrity and honesty. We have
zero tolerance on any forms of corruptions including bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. Anti-corruption standards concerning corrupt
behaviours are in place to uphold integrity in the workplace.

The Codes of Conduct with anti-corruption standards are incorporated in
our Employee Handbook. Guidelines are provided to employees to deal with
potential conflict or receiving advantages properly. Employees are required
to report to their supervisors and the HR Department if they receive
monetary or non-monetary benefits such as festive gifts or promotional gifts
from external parties that cannot be rejected. Employees are requested to
sign a declaration when there is a potential for conflict of interest between
the Group and related stakeholders.

A whistleblowing policy is installed to encourage stakeholders to report any
suspicious cases of unethical behaviours to the HR Department or the
internal audit committee, verbally or via email, staff mailbox and 24-hour
recorded message hotline. The Group keeps the identity of the whistle-
blower confidential. All reported cases are subject to independent
investigation by internal audit committee and a detailed report will be
prepared afterwards. If the case is related to any criminal offenses or
unethical business behaviour, it would be transferred to the local authorities
for further investigation. Allegations of fraud, violation of the Group’s
standards and retaliation against the whistle-blower are prohibited and
disciplinary consequences follow.

To the best of our knowledge, the Group did not contravene any relevant
laws and regulations® that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during the year under
review. The Group was not involved in any corruption cases during the year
under review.

3 Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for anti-

corruption-related laws and regulations
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OUR PEOPLE

Recognising people as an integral component of the Group, Hifood strives to

provide a decent and comfortable work environment to employees, creating

development opportunities for them, at the same time taking care of their well-
being and benefits.

Employee Profile

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 22 full-time staff, of which 18
employees are based in mainland China. The ratio of male to female
employees is 13:9. Regarding age, 86% of our staff are aged 31-50 and 9%
are aged above 50. Among the employees, 18% are managerial staff and 82%

are general staff.
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During the year under review, the overall employee turnover rate and new
hire rate were 45.45% and 4.55% respectively. Detailed distributions of

employee turnover and new hire rate by age and gender are presented in the
graphs below:

Turnover and New Hire Rates by Age
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Employee Rights and Welfare

The Group is dedicated to building a diverse and inclusive workplace where
our employees are respected. Therefore, we have zero tolerance on any form
of discrimination or harassment against one’s age, gender, marital status,
race, religion and disability.

To safeguard employees’ rights and benefits, we adopt internal regulations
covering areas including remuneration, recruitment, promotion, working
hours and equal opportunities.

To the best of our knowledge, the Group did not contravene any relevant
laws and regulations* that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare during the year.

Talent Recruitment

The Group has in place stringent human resources management in terms of
recruitment and employment processes specified in the employee handbook.
As an equal opportunity employer, suitable candidates are selected regardless
of their race, colour, social status, origin, nationality, religion, disability,
gender, sexual orientation, political affiliation or age. We strictly follow an
open and fair recruitment and promotion processes that are solely based on
merit, educational background, work performance and professional
experience. Employees” work performance, attitudes and other key
performance indicators are evaluated on an annual basis. These appraisals
form a basis for which promotion, position and salary adjustment are
determined.

Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for labour-
related laws and regulations.
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Welfare and Benefits

We believe employees’ satisfaction is essential to the Group’s long-term
prosperity and success. To motivate them for continuous improvement, the
Group provides its employees with attractive and comprehensive
remuneration packages and welfare benefits. Employees’ remuneration is
adjusted in accordance with market conditions as well as employees’
performance, qualifications and expertise.

On top of statutory benefits, employees are entitled to a range of
remuneration packages covering welfare and benefits such as healthcare,
maternity and paternity leave, gifts on festive occasions and birthday and
marriage leave. Additionally, free annual health checks are offered to
employees in China. For instance, employees were entitled to the annual
health checks during the year. Moreover, we provide employees with social
insurance and labour insurance. To attract and retain talented individuals,
staffs with outstanding performances are entitled to the bonus under the
incentive scheme. The effectiveness of this scheme is reviewed on an annual
basis. Furthermore, long service award and bonus are awarded to those who
have served the Group for more than 5 years to reward their continuous
dedication and contribution to the Group.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group is committed to adhering to fair recruitment and strives to
ensure that job applicants regardless of their gender, nationality, disability,
age, skin colour, race and family position are treated equally. Employees are
strongly encouraged to report any cases of discrimination or harassment to
their supervisors or to the HR Department. The Group investigates the case
promptly and seriously. Corrective and rectification measures are initiated if
the case is found to be true. In particular, an Equality Working Group has
been set up in China to oversee the implementation of anti-discrimination
policies and handle relevant complaints.

Employment Standards

Labour rights are important to us. The Group is cautious about preventing
any prohibited labour practices such as recruitment of child or forced labour.
Through adopting strict labour standards and internal policies against child
or forced labour, we ensure compliance in business operations. For instance,
the Group ensures all newly recruited employees are over 16 years old
through verifying their identification document. In addition, labour
contracts are signed based on mutual agreement between the Group and
employees.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of relevant laws and regulations® that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to prevention of child and forced labour. There were
no reported cases of child or forced labour during the year.

5 Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for labour-
related laws and regulations.
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Employee Relations

The Group highly values open and two-way communication with its
employees. As such, we maintain constant engagement with employees
through various communication channels including intranet and monthly
newsletters to update employees with the Group’s latest policies and
development. Our open-door policy fosters employees to exchange ideas and
feedbacks on product designs and policies towards the HR Department via
staff mailbox. Protecting the legal rights and securing the best interests of
employees, labour union and women workers” committee are established to
settle labour disputes.

Training and Development

The professional competency of our employees underpins the growth of the
Group. To this end, Hifood spares no effort in investing in training and
development of dedicated individuals to enable them to realise their full
potential by providing various development opportunities to them. To
enhance employees’ capability in fulfilling the operational needs of their
respective positions, the Group identifies training needs of employees based
on their performance evaluated in the annual assessment.

In accordance with the development needs of the Group and employees’
comments, the HR department delivers various in-house trainings, covering
areas including technical knowledge, management skills and stone jewellery
classification. This helps to equip employees with the required skills and
knowledge so they can improve their performances in an on-going manner.
All newcomers are required to attend internal and external training for
enhancing their understanding in respective responsibilities and work
procedures. Internal trainings are carried out by managerial staffs where they
will deliver first-hand experiences with colleagues.

Collaborating with Panya Vocational Training Center, the Group offers
training opportunities for talented individuals in jewellery making industry.
Looking ahead, we aim to provide more professional career support to all
member of staff through assigning tutors with high professional competency.

Occupational Health and Safety

Ensuring the safety of our employees is one of our foremost tasks. The
Group is dedicated to ensuring a safe and healthy work environment for its
employees and eliminate any potential hazards. To achieve this objective, we
implement strict safety management and training systems and procedures are
enforced. During the year under review, there were no cases of work-related
accidents and there were no lost days recorded; the Group did not record
any case regarding work-related fatalities.

To the best of our knowledge, the Group did not contravene any relevant
laws and regulations® that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
the provision of a safe working environment and protection of employees
from occupational hazards during the year.

Please refer to the section headed Laws and Regulations for health and
safety-related laws and regulations.

fi 5 A 1%

ACEE N+ BEAR BELAR B AR O Bl o Rk > 3R
78 30 A0 W A % A F 3 LS 2 1R T R A LR B E )
HB) > e e R B AN B Fr b BUR KB - K
A ) B A BB SR s B A 5L Eh T SRR i A g R
Or AN A R RBOR AR R R e My T R
WA B A 35 7 A M A AR R 4 > FRAM B BOE T K
LTZEE > UM EME -

5l B 9%

18 B A EERE) SCBE A R MRR o Bt - AR E NI
5% 3 450 T S 3 A B N o A O
PRt MR RS - (ECENIA ACTE R - B
12 AR B IR A5 A T A RE ) AR EIAR
RS A AT S Al I A AL A0 R BURE E R R B
TGN -

Ny AR A S R N L - PR
BRI USRI B
S o BT B J U8 B BRI B B B -
{0 FE LA PR 8000 J7 SRR TR B - BF A A AL
TS 58 B S B0 DA S TR A% 1 B3
BT AR o (B850 ph B B EOEAT > A BRI
P4 — AR -

A 4 B BlPanyali 2 35 3l " 0 (Panya Vocational
Training Center) A F » % PR T WG 47 M A A JR L 1R
A E - REARA . B BAEEBIEIREA =
TR A BT AT B T AR P S S A S E

TR A B 22 4 /3 FRAM 1 AT 2 — o AL B
PRAE B AT 2 A i BR A TAR BRI > 3031 BRAE (VB 7L
o o MEBLMLHE B JAE G Fe i 22 24 1T
V5 RR AT BRI BE AR P o S B AR BE T - R
A T A R 2 I ) BBR AR A HR S R M s A B AT
SR AFAL AT (K A BRI SR T A9 S 491

B B R > A 2 J A 4 19 NI 0 2 RAT A AT R B
k2 e T AR BRI R AR W A B AR G M S A R LD A
I 4 0 R S B AT Bl BB ML e o

6 A B B B A AR B s R - RS2 R R
YR

2021 Annual Report 4EJE#HE 67



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BREL - e REREE

Safety and Emergency Management

As part of our management approach to strictly comply with relevant laws
and regulations, a production safety management policy and occupational
hygiene management organisation are deployed to oversee and monitor the
operations and processes of the group. In addition, HR Department
conducts annual safety evaluation and monitor the usage of personal
protective equipment. The persons-in-charge of the production units are
responsible for the adoption of safety practices and the delivery of safety
education to employees.

To effectively respond to emergency circumstances, the Group has set up an
emergency handling group spearheaded by the HR Department for
managing natural and man-made accidents such as fire, flooding and
chemical leakage. Emergency plans including emergency preventive measures
and handling procedures are formulated to ensure timely and effective
handling of emergencies.

Production Safety

Our fine jewellery production involves casting, polishing and gold-filling.
Therefore, our employees are subject to a range of potential safety hazards.
To climinate these production safety hazards, various safety measures are
implemented at the workplace. For instance, personal protective equipment
including gloves, masks and eye protectors are provided to protect the
employees against the safety hazards.
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Post safety warnings at prominent positions in the workplace

AE T AR 35 B i) R (o7 L e il 4 e

Require employees to use personal protective equipment at work

ZERAE B TAR (A B R sk

Safety Measures

b/sete /=]

To timely identify the risk of exposure to poisonous materials, high
temperature and emissions of dust and noise, third-party safety evaluation is
regularly carried out. Corrective measures are taken when any potential or
existing risks are discovered. Monetary rewards and penalties are handed out
to the responsible personnel based on their performance on managing safety

issues.

The Group cares about its employees’ health and well-being. On top of
occupational health checks provided to employees annually, we also maintain
an occupational health monitoring profile for each employee to monitor
their occupational health. If occupational health risk is verified, medical
treatment is provided to the employee and when necessary, rectify any
improper practices in the workplace that could lead to occupational health

issues.
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Safety Training

Prevention is the first priority when it comes to safety risk management. In
this regard, we are committed to enhancing safety awareness among
workplace to avoid injuries. The production safety management policy of
the Group requires the provision of safety training to all newcomers,
temporary workers and transferees to ensure all employees are well trained
and equipped with the necessary knowledge on safety issues. The completion
of safety training is compulsory for all newcomers to ensure that they possess
knowledge of occupational health and safety and the correct usage of
personal protective equipment. After the training, they must pass the
assessment before commencing their duties. For current employees, safety
training is delivered by various operational units regularly.

In view that the Group’s operations involve technical manufacturing
procedures, employees associated with these procedures are required to
undergo professional safety training and obtain the requisite certificate as a
proof of their ability to operate specific machines in their respective roles.
On a regular basis, government organisations are invited to deliver safety
education training to managerial staff and person-in-charge of occupational

health.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Upholding the value of “taking from society and giving back to society”, the
pholding g ty and giving o
Group is committed to contributing to the communities by way of charitable
P g y way

donations. During the year, the Group made donations to support epidemic
prevention as well as elderly care in mainland China. Moving forward, the
Group will continue to fulfil its social responsibilities by supporting the
communities where it has operations.
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LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To ensure strict compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, the

LR IEM

I EEREE - AL E RAERRI ST > AEMC R
S Tt A 6 B 7 0 (09 RO e B ) o DAHE DR i
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Group has established and implemented respective management approach
including policies and initiatives in response to each ESG aspect. The list of

applicable laws and regulations is as follow: wmr

Applicable Laws and Regulations

I R

Section/Remarks

TRk

Emissions ¢ Environmental Protection Law of the PRC OUR ENVIRONMENT
e rp e N\ R L [ R AR R — Environmental
¢ Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution Management

Caused by Solid Wastes
Hp e N [ [ 88 ) T e R B Bl TR
‘Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC

rh N RN ER K75 e B i

T ER B — BRI
i

The Environmental and ¢ Energy Conservation Law of the PRC OUR ENVIRONMENT
Natural Resources rpE N B LR (9 £ 4 e VR — Environmental
BRERKRAGR Management
A B BT — BRI
B
Employment and *  Employment Ordinance OUR PEOPLE —
Labour Standards A e e 191 Employee Rights and
06 B2 &5 1 e ] e Labour Law of the PRC Welfare, Employment
FREE N ROILRN B 45 Bl ik Standards
e Law of PRC on the Protection of Persons with Disabilities B AT — g B Ak
RN R LR B B N R B 1 ot S AR A - R A R
e Race Discrimination Ordinance
Tl e A Ak 491
e Sex Discrimination Ordinance
T BB AR R 1]
*  Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
FRWE [ 57 M5 A5 A6 451
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Applicable Laws and Regulations Section/Remarks
L B Tk
Health and Safety e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases OUR PEOPLE —
e B2 A rh e N\ [ L B R S TR T Occupational Health and
e Law of the PRC on Work Safety Safety
e N RILFINE %2 2 55 W) ik Ty B T — Bl
¢ Production Safety Law of the PRC e B 4

e A RRN R 2 2 A

Product Responsibility ¢ Registered Designs Ordinance OPERATIONAL
P fih H AT ik i M Bl bl EXCELLENCE —
¢ Trade Marks Ordinance Product Quality
i A 151 B — A
*  Patent Law of the PRC
e N RIL AN Ak
e Chinese National Standards issued by the Standardisation Administration of
China

I < AL A F 2 B A 11+ 2 [ R

Anti-corruption e Prevention of Bribery Ordinance OPERATIONAL
R BTG 17 11 B s e 1 EXCELLENCE —
e And-unfair Competition Law of the PRC Business Ethics
Hh N\ BRI R S A I 3 Tk LB — P SEE AT
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PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY BRI
2021
B
Workforce Total Headcount 22
Demographics FEPN ¢
1 B &iwt By Region
4 Hb [ 1) 43
Hong Kong 4
ik
China 18
i
By Age
FAR B H) 53
<30 1
31-50 19
>51 2
By Gender
F P ) 43
Male 13
Bk
Female 9
eqlca
By Position Level
T AL e R ) 43
Management staff 4
EILEE T
General staff 18
—KET
By Employment Type
A A L ) 4
Full-time 22
Kl
Part-time 0
Hel
Employee Turnover Rate 45.45%
=V
Employee New Hire Rate 4.55%
g BB AR
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Health and Safety Work-related injury 0
fe R B2 2 T
Number of injured employees 0
518 5\
Lost days due to work-related injury 0
P TAHRR B ¥
Work-related fatalities 0
TARBRIE T A B

Supply Chain Supplier Distribution

Management A 18 7 735

3 JE G 4 B Hong Kong 10
i

Mainland China 34
Hh [ A

Environment*® Resources Consumption

BRI+ BRI FE
Electricity (kWh) 180,723.07
B (TR
Petrol (Litre) 89,452.77
Rl (1)
Total energy consumption (GJ) 3,501.62
HARBIRINAE (TIREETH)
Energy intensity (GJ/person) 159.16
TR (TIREE,N)
Water (m?) 3,410.88
FAK (3275 K)
Water intensity (m?/person) 155.04
FK BB (5K N)
Paper (kg) 669.57
(AT
Plastics (kg) -
BEL (A T)
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Emissions

P

GHG Emissions
i % S PR
Scope 1: direct carbon emission (tCO,e) 237.94
EE— - EE PR (M R b )
Scope 2: indirect carbon emission (tCO,e) 145.34
R [ R B (M R bR )
Total (tCO,e) 383.27
a0 (W AR )
GHG intensity (tCO,e/person) 17.42
5 S P B (AR E RN
Air pollutants
2RI Y )
Sulphur oxides (kg) 1.31
AL ()
Nitrogen oxides (kg) 71.14
READ (A7)
Particulate matter (kg) 5.24
YRV ()T
Hazardous waste (T'onnes) 0
HEBEEY) (M)
Non-hazardous waste (kg) 0

IE B (A7)

Community Donation (HKD) 0
k[ A (#7T)

74  Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited i % £ [ ¥ it A B 2 7



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B g R REY

HKEX ESG CONTENT INDEX

KPIs
PR S A 2 AR A

A. Environmental

ARBE

Aspect Al: Emissions

JETE AL = HEH

General Disclosure

— B4 R

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BiZ2 P BR85S ~ A AR H A 15 M

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

A A B S B SR DA 1K B H i PSR E R R

AR

(@ B &

(b) ST BEAT A R B AN BRSSOk -

KPIAL.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BHSEAURARIRALL PR ST RAR B PR -

KPI Al1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where

B AR IR AL2 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
S SRR A B i (LAMERT A B (hnig ) %5 B2 (dn
DI B IR AR o

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

BRSSP T AL

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

P AR R A e (LIMERHSE) B (U ) %
JE (DU E R0 IR ) -

KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
PSSR REAL4Y  where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
I A S T R ) A e (LAMERHS) B (Wndi ) %
JE (WL B B0 ~ BRI RTST)
KPI AL5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
PSSR IEALS  achieved.
At ol A B ) s B T A R
KPI AL.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes

B RAE S ALG are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

A R PR F S I E BRI Ok BURAE L R
945 7 S T A5 AR

BB - g R ERNAER I

Section/Remarks

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Environmental
Management

FAM Ay B BE — FRET A
Bl

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
FAMM B BT — PRk
il

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
A BR BT — Rk
il

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
AT TR BT — Pk
il

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
FoM iy BRI — PR
il

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
A BREE — Rl
il

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Emission Control
A TR BT — PEkE
il
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KPIs

BA 8 384 B

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
JE THi A2 ¢ B IREBE

General Disclosure

— R

materials.

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
B2 IR 8L ~ d o BRI AR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw

AR TEIR (GAERER ~ K BHAR AR Y BOE -

KPI A2.1
B S SRR A2.1
KPI A2.2
B S AR E A2.2
KPI A2.3
RS AR TE A2.3
KPI A2.4
B S AR A2 4
KPI A2.5
A S A AR A A2.5

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BOSURIB I3 ) B K/ o M REVR (AN ~ SRaith)
BFERE (LLT8 T FCRFRHE) B (A DA g 7
FAL ~ FRIHBERT )

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

RO KR R B (DU i B0~ 49 TH B R T
B

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

it B V7 P A0 ) B BT A IR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for the purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.

it SR IBCE A KR Al A AR TR > DLRARTE
K g w ) B AR R o

Total packaging materials used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

SRR T R A SRR R (AR ST ) M (i )
HAEERMGE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

JETH A3 ¢ BRBER R AR IR

General Disclosure

— R

natural resources.

Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environment and

AR AT NS BR 0 X K R T TR S RS B BURE

KPI A3.1
B BURE 1 A3.1

Description of significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

Tt ST U B B R R AR IR O R e
PRI BT BRSSO A T
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Section/Remarks

A,k

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Conservation
RMIBREE — BRI
[

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Consumption

A BRI — E U
i

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Consumption

R BREE — B IR
e

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Consumption

M EREE — B IR
&

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Consumption

AR BRBE — R
G

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Resources
Consumption

A BRI — E N
&

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Noise Management,
Plant Site Greening

A BB AT — M
R AR

OUR ENVIRONMENT
— Noise Management,
Plant Site Greening

R BREE — WS
T~ g I AL
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KPIs

A 8 T34 R

B. Social

B. 4L

Aspect B1: Employment
JE T B1 : (R

General Disclosure

—J 45 B

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
B2 P BR 8L ~ A R AR H A 18 51 M

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

A BRI I AR ~ RIS BT~ AR BRI PR e - Zoofl

SIS LA B HAB 5 28 AR Y -

(@ BUOR: K

(b) BESFRIERAT AN A E G B BE R R E R -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group
B ARSI B1.1 and geographical region.
FPER > AR ~ ARl AL R 3t [ 0 £ R B
Y o

KPI B1.2
B BUIIE I B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
FRVERI A7 B AR T b 5 31 2 ) LU O EL R o

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

JE T B2 : fl RE S 4

General Disclosure

— B4 R

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

A BRI 20 A TR ER I AR I B SRS M T 1

(a) B : K

(b) ST BEAT AN AR B BRSSO OB -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.
PSSR B2 B TARBIRMSE T A9 AR LR -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

Mg SR B2 R TGHEA TIE A -

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
BS S E RE B2.3 adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

I T R A 1 i S o B 22 A G o DA A B
T B BRI

Section/Remarks

ik

OUR PEOPLE —
Employee Rights and
Welfare

A B T — & S HE
it S A

OUR PEOPLE —
Employee Profile
BT — 18 B
Ut

OUR PEOPLE —
Employee Profile

M BT — 1§ B
Ut

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

Ty B T — Bk
JFESL % A

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

Ay BT — B
JRe B2 4

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

T B T — Rk
JReB a4

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

MM B T — BkEm
R BLL: A
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KPIs

BA 8 384 B

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
B2 IR 8L ~ d o BRI AR

Aspect B3: Development and Training

JiE T B3 B R KA
General Disclosure

— R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

A B PR TR BB AT TARRRIT 0 H S B R BOR o it 5 IS ) -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

Ji& 1 B4 : 45 THEH
General Disclosure

— R

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to prevention of child and forced labour.
A BT 1F T R 5 T
(2 BUK; I
(b) S BHEAT A A H R R BN AR B R BB A R
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices
B S S A0 A6 A2 B4.1 to avoid child and forced labour.
o0 AT WAL 91 )t DA e G B TSR ) 95 T o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

JE i B5 ¢ it ME g4 B

General Disclosure

— B4 R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain

LA B 1 B A L R B

KPI B5.1
B S A R AR A BS.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region
e Hu I ) 23 i (L RE R BH o

KPI BS.2
B AT BS .2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

il A TR ) R P A R 1 LA T A R A B
M UERERT S ~ AR B GTR BUT SBETT i -
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KPIs Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

A S T4 R B2 P BR L ~ A KA H A 1 51 M Tk

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
JE W B6 ¢ & fih H AT

General Disclosure Information on: OPERATIONAL
— B % % (a) the policies; and EXCELLENCE —
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Product Quality
on the issuer R — ENE R

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

7 Bl T AR PR MRS R f PR B 22 4 ~ R, - AR AR FL R S L A R

T
(@ BOK R
(b) BESFEFAT AAT RSB A R A B R A R
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints OPERATIONAL
IBH S SR AU AR 1 BG.2 received and how they are dealt with. EXCELLENCE —
T BRI FE i BRSO B B E DA R e Ok - Enhancing Customer
Satisfaction
S — RS
W
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and OPERATIONAL
PSSR B B6.3 protecting intellectual property rights. EXCELLENCE — Data
il BRLA A R R e i A TR A AR ) and Intellectual Property
Rights Protection
R — R S
il 2 AR
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall OPERATIONAL
PASREAURIETE BG4 procedures. EXCELLENCE —
i 0 B A R R i TR R T o Product Quality
SR — EE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy OPERATIONAL
B S SR AR B BG.S policies, how they are implemented and monitored. EXCELLENCE — Data
70 B R B S FLBE B > DA AR BH AT and Intellectual Property
R BTk o Rights Protection
LR — 0RO
il 2 HE AR o
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KPIs Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

BA 8 384 B B2 IR 8L ~ d o BRI AR Tk

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

JE i B7 : R TG

General Disclosure Information on: OPERATIONAL

— % 5 (a) the policies; and EXCELLENCE —
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Business Ethics

on the issuer LB E —
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

A BB AL RERE - B3R~ G Ve AR R

(@) B K
(b) ST EFERAT A A HRR B A B 1 BB A RO
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt OPERATIONAL
BASEATAE R B7.1 practices brought against the issuer or its employees EXCELLENCE —
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the Business Ethics
cases. LB R — T S T

7 MEE 0 PR B A7 N B AR B 2 e 7 L B A5 0 2
LEL A SGRIDE QP &/vaE S
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing OPERATIONAL
B AUEEB7.2 procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. EXCELLENCE —
120 7 R it S ERRRR Y > DA B BT B B Business Ethics

Ttk e LB — PSR
Aspect B8: Community Investment
JE i B8 ¢ kB %
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities COMMUNITY
— ik where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the INVOLVEMENT
communities’ interests. 1.2 B

AR A [ 22 B T R AT N P AL I 5 S AR LS S ) & %
JE AL I i Y BORE -

KPI BS8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, COMMUNITY
B A AUR S BS.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, INVOLVEMENT
sport). AR 2 B

SRR RS (N~ BREHE - F LR - 2
e~ sefk - #E) -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place,
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hifood Group
Holdings Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

ZXEHE BB
HRMABREBITON
A ¥ —BE2748

Tel E3%: +852 2846 9888
Fax {8E: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

B A T e A R W B R
(7% B 2 B e R S i A PR A D)

=
| S
o3

WA B B HI R S 86 2 167 B i & 5 2 4 1A R
o] (TN D) B g A 7 (Gihs M 1) A4
GBS EE - BIE R 2021 4E3 A 31 H 1 454 BHBIR
LR B 2 5% H R AF B I 45 5 18 45 B H Ath 4 T i 4
T BAHEEENGEAREeRER > UKREAYT
B RN > A B EORME -

AR L %A AR S WOR CORIR A W @ wt A
o ([ B aahhm g ) M 9 G v B e )
(T W B s YEJN ) BT i e e T 384
7 2021 4F 3 A 31 H 9 &5 A BB IR UL S L= W2 H
IHFEER A EMHRBE LGRS EHE - WO ENR
7 1 CON BRI ) 1A 10 58 L5 2 0 JBEAA

B R

FRAM O AR 58 7 oy 2 A A 7 o 9 e S
([ A s A aT e ] 1) AT 95wt o FRAMTERZ AR HE R N K
W0 BUT CAEATRA [ BT 3 it A5 6 B R R
EHTECAL | T AR — 2L A o AR W A
A (R Bt B 78 A (TSP R - B %
SERY B I CEAT S R A E R AT - K
TMARLE > FAM BT AT 1 5 i 8 RE 70 I 3
FeAM i 2 AR AL SRR -

2021 Annual Report 4EE#HE 81



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
388 7 4% B B e o

To the shareholders of Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
Jfor the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

IoH 3 2 i = O

Provision for expected credit losses ("ECLs”) on trade receivables

S0 WAk TR R o L (T TR0 5 M 4L D) 884

As at 31 March 2021, the gross carrying amount of trade receivables
amounted to HK$53.2 million and the Group has recognised ECLs
on trade receivables in a total amount of HK$2.1 million.
202143 H 31 H > 85 MENCHIA R BRI A/ 53.2 7 # »
JC o MM EAE I C B 5 MEUGHRE R U E 1R A 3t 2.1
FEHTT -

The Group applied the simplified approach set out in HKFRS 9 to
measure ECLs of trade receivables, which recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs. Management assesses the provision at the end ~ ©
of each reporting period.

I 5 T YD A o B A YR RN B 0 SR T A AL ik R R S .
JRESCRR TR U £ Bl 1 AR B 2 T TR £ 50 s e s 1R
M o T TR A A 4RO R AT A A .

ECLs rates are determined based on the historical loss rate for the
respective receivables with different ageing. The historical loss rates

are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle  *
the receivables.

TEH(E B 1R 3 T AR PR A (] iR i 1) A B 540 o MBS T Y 1

JE AR R ST o AR AL s 4R R T KRS B DL R WS B S 4 R R
FRIERE 7 B 7% AL PR 2 A T Ak S0 .

Significant management judgements and estimates are involved in
determining ECLs.

feet 7 TR 0 e 1R 0 T B R A, I B e A o

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4, 21 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R R 4 3 A A 5 B B SRR I3 ~ 4> 21 35 ¢
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H S 7 Wt T 0H

I SR 2 i R AR SR AN 0 S KB > R A
TH] 46545 BB 3R 19 9 i 7 T SR ST o T L TR
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BEPRAG o FAAEEPE R IHR PRI T o BT
SO IR 5 > A A0 w0 ] L R S T A e A
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A CIBAT AR [ BB s 1 B AR
HYFTAE ) B0 i B B T4 - G4 B S5 S IH AR B Y
AT o BIBE - FRAM A9 w TGS AT o MR T A Ak 1
5 0 A H Ot e TR B T e P R o AP 1Y 7
T A 2R (L4 BB BT 81 S JE T AT A R ) 2 T A
BB AR & B IR AR B R A A T L PR e o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRA 00 2 w4 o g B R B it o O

Our procedures included:

A AR AT

Obraining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk
management and practices, and assessing the Group’s policy
on determining ECLs;

TR SR G SRR R R SRR SRR
jiE S PR B 1RO BUR

Obrtaining and reviewing the management’s calculation of
ECLs;
W AT e B 3L S U (5 RS TR A 515

Evaluating the estimation methodology and assumptions in
the calculation of ECLs that are based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment;
and

A O TR £ B A 1R A A Ok R s LG 3
AR S R AR - A RTH AR E B
HITBES P TR 2R B SR BR S A o 5 I

Considering the adequacy of the Group’s related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

R RO MR AR BB AR B R A T R
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To the shareholders of Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

B 0 A 0 M A R O W B R ()
(7% BH 22 I 5 AR RS B FR A D)

AT LA 5 B

B ) R A B AT - AR BRI
PR A B > AELAS B4 A A5 S B TRAM 1) A Bl
i o

FRAM 3B 5 IS R Y 2 S AN 3 A B TR
TIRA B 2% 45 HAAS B B RAT A i SR Aty

TN B ARG MR B R AN B STE R B
SR TEBR AR P B AR R B AR
B S 0 3R AT A S R AR TR T T R A LA
RS A8 B 0 T A A T R R RO A9 1 L o 2R TR
P E AT TAF > AR I RR F 5% 55 HA 5 B A 7E
RSB BOL T B SE  fEE T K
A AL A

AR G B ORI I R AT

B )RR R A U R A Y A B
5 ity Y P R A s o W A0) ) 40 9 0 AE SR L
M FF R AR B R > SRR T Ty i A P
3 242 ) SR A A A7 7E Pl 7 ST I R T 2 Y K
sk PR O 8 1) PR P A £ B o

TEREMi AR o S R BRI EF ARG B
QR A AR W RE Ty > A 8T DT D B A A
REA B SIE DL R A By e ah kel > BR
o BEAFEHAEN BREMERESULEE > 5
] A JEC Al B R ) AR R o
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2021 Annual Report 4EJE#HE 83



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
388 7 4% B B e o

To the shareholders of Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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To the shareholders of Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Sy AR A B L A 2 I WL 45 %

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(i T FHsoo
REVENUE W % 5 162,644 154,038
Cost of sales S A (155,625) (145,153)
Gross profit EH 7,019 8,885
Other income HAb g A 6 713 356
Selling expenses S B L (4,380) (4,283)
Administrative expenses FriEgEE (22,033) (25,269)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment 4 A T (E B R B[R]
losses) on financial assets, net (kR 1R) - 1558 1,341 (2,614)
Other gains, net HAtri i - 1548 7 815 3,071
Other losses, net HAt g8 » F4 7 (57,778) (46,533)
Finance costs HHS AR 8 (356) (941)
Share of loss of a joint venture JEAK %8 ml s (13) (8)
LOSS BEFORE TAX I 5t T M 188 9 (74,672) (67,336)
Income tax expense P 5B B 32 12 (326) (358)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE A< 2 "I A A REAY
TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF £ IEH
THE COMPANY (74,998) (67,694)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HAb 2wk ss, (ki8)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) that may be ] GE A Y [ A o M
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent a8 09 H A2 Y 5 (K 1E)
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of 05 1 4/ SE S 7 AR 1) B DL 25 R
foreign operations 2,025 (1,511)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may ] GE i H 1 B [ o 70 80
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent PR 19 B A2 i 77 (518
periods 1B 2,025 (1,511)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS A2 W] JRHE SR AN REAN 4 A
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 4 i e 4R B AR
TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (72,973) (69,205)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO A2 vl ¥ il Ik B 25 35 A
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF A% 4 5 s 482
THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — FEAR T i 14 HK$(0.43) HK$(0.39)
(0.43) ¥ 5T (0.39) #& 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B BB IR DL

As at 31 March 2021
R 20214F3 31 H

2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
g Tt THsoT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FE B &
Property, plant and equipment Y2~ W A 15 1,273 4,721
Intangible assets HE T B 16 1,324 -
Right-of-use assets o R AR 17 781 1,009
Investment in a joint venture ﬁ’;\%’é&/ﬁﬁj Z2H®/E 18 91 105
Financial assets at fair value through o AR AR AR 2 4 i
profit or loss 19 112,596 16,720
Total non-current assets IE v B AL 116,065 22,555
CURRENT ASSETS b <gz3
Inventories yeyiy 20 21,437 18,664
Trade receivables B 5 MR 21 51,137 78,910
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEATERTE ~ i 4 b HoAth B i i T 22 2,654 9,222
Financial assets at fair value through F2 N FAERE AR #8246 Bl G
profit or loss 19 - 152,201
Cash and bank balances 4 T ARAT &5 iR 23 37,213 27,915
Total current assets i ) e A 112,441 286,912
CURRENT LIABILITIES WwE
Trade and other payables and accruals B by N A RE A I e e 512 A 24 21,601 19,725
Borrowings f & 27 - 9,924
Lease liabilities HEARE 17 180 254
Tax payables JEAS B IH 588 145
Total current liabilities BB A 22,369 30,048
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EERE BRI INY &

As at 31 March 2021
#202143 31 H

2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
B 5 AR THsTT
NET CURRENT ASSETS ik Bl 90,072 256,864
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I i By £ 5
Lease liabilities FHE A S 17 698 814
Deferred tax liabilities AR SERL T AR 28 106 299
Total non-current liabilities PRI B=E ek 804 1,113
Net assets B FE 205,333 278,306
EQUITY RE#R
Equity attributable to the equity holders AN F AERS A AL R 4
of the Company
Issued capital BT A 25 863 863
Reserves Tttt 26 204,470 277,443
Total equity HE £ AR AR 205,333 278,306
Su Zhiyi Xiong Cong
B fiE M
Director Director
FE FH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEREg Eoh RS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BWE 2021473 731 H IR

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

LT SN i
Retained
Statutory Exchange earnings/
Issued Share surplus Merger Capital ~ fluctuation Warrant  (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses) equity
HER AMEE ;B AR REEH/
CHfTRA B G GO EARE Gl B GRREHE)  HERAE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Tikn Titn T T Titn Tt T T Titn
(note 25) (note 25) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26)
(Wkas)  (Wak2s)  (Wikae)  (Wek2e)  (Whkoe)
Asat 1 April 2019 #2019% 4111 863 122,787 7,842 1,940 105,366 (3,367) 2470 109,610 347,511
Loss for the year FNEH - - - - - - - (67,694) (67,694)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREAEER
Exchange differences on translation BHBENEREEMD
of foreign operations B %5 - - - - - (1,511) - - (1511)
Total comprehensive loss for the year R TR R - - - - - (1,511) - (67,694) (69,205)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve R E ARG - - 104 - - - - (104) -
Expiration of warrants RG] - - - - - - (2,470) 2470 -
Asat31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 1202043 7131 1
K2020% 4710 863 122,787* 7946 1,940 105,366 (4878 - 428 278306
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (74,998) (74,998)
Other comprehensive income for the year SR 2
Exchange differences on translation BHBNER RN
of foreign operations [ 24 - - - - - 2,025 - - 2,025
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR A TR R - - - - - 2,025 - (74,998) (72,973)
Asat 31 March 2021 2021434310 863 122,787* 7,946* 1,940* 105,366 (2,853)* =* (30,716)* 205,333
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * B2 A R LI AR A ISR I 3 R A5 A o A

HK$204,470,000 (2020: HK$277,443,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

204,470,000 #5 7 (2020 4F : 277,443,000 #5IT) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEBERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

2021 2020
20214F 2020 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
R &E Fioc THsTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REWBH B SR
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax W Bl i s 15 (74,672) (67,336)
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs 5 AR 8 356 941
Share of loss of a joint venture WAL 5 A R R 13 8
Interest income FE A 6 (44) (72)
Dividend income R A 6 (434) -
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, B - WS
plant and equipment, net et (lEtR) - 1 7 63 (786)
Depreciation of property, plant and W~ R BT e
equipment 15 964 2,810
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i I REE B AT 8 17 293 229
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of T BB, (s 1)) 2=
inventories to net realisable value ] 5 T 20 256 (922)
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment 4 Fill & 2 (i (EL 5 4848 (1] WA
losses on financial assets, net fEiE > A (1,341) 2,614
Fair value losses on financial assets s AR A E 45 1) 4 A& 7E 1Y
at fair value through profit or loss VADINIEN <Ei! 7 56,221 45,321
Transaction cost for financial assets e e fE R AR 25 1) 4 Rl
at fair value through profit or loss G A 7 - 710
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries H0 A B R 2w B i 7,29 (815) (2,285)
(19,140) (18,768)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories T8 &) b (3,029) 13,167
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 MESCHIE Y (3870) 29,945 (31,656)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TR ERIE ~ 42 45 T H A E Wi 3 E
deposits and other receivables Wy, (B 5,526 (5,586)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 J HoAth A5} 3 SE 3 fim,~ (i) 2,627 (9,241)
Decrease in contract liabilities BRI AEW D - (117)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations g pis, () Bl 15,929 (52,201)
Interest paid ST FLE (1,016) (121)
Interest elements of lease payments T B AT 2 RS B 43 (80) (76)
Income tax refunded/(paid) B (EAT) Frigst 55 (149)
Net cash flows from/(used in) e m TR, ()
operating activities T4 I = VA 14,888 (52,547)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BBl amER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

2021 2020
2021 4¢ 2020 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
btk T Tl
Net cash flows from/(used in) KRB TS (BT )

operating activities Tl <5 Ui o 5 14,888 (52,547)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BB B 4 Bl i

ACTIVITIES
Interest received B RE 44 72
Dividends received from listed investments B LT g ok g 434 -
Payment for the purchase of financial assets — #tHE B #2228 o (AR AR 2 1

at fair value through profit or loss & Tl E A K - (198,053)
Payment for transaction cost for the purchase 5t M B % 28 o (A FF A IR 25 1)

of financial assets at fair value through I 28 i IR AT R

profit or loss - (710)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment & B2 - Bk MM (85) (3,713)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and H &2 - W5 Mk

equipment I 308 - 1,285
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries H B N T BT AS R OE AR 29 2,980 887
Net cash flows from/(used in) B&m e s, (B

investing activities B 4 i R AR 3,373 (200,232)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING TRl 0 4 B

ACTIVITIES
New borrowings Bk (e - 10,710
Repayment of borrowings TR A Y 9,924) (7806)
Principal elements of lease payments TR AT R4 434 (261) (168)
Net cash flows (used in)/from RCE S (FTH), s

financing activities T 4 U VAR (10,185) 9,756
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH Bl & KBl &% i, (W)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS T 8,076 (243,023)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  4F ) 3 4 S Bl & 558 27,915 270,808
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes A1 FEE R 2% 538 )y 19 5 2B 4 1,222 130
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  4E KRB & KB 4%

END OF YEAR 23 37,213 27,915
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B 202143 7 31 A IE4FE

92

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands on 6 June 2014. The registered office of the
Company is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 March 2015 (the
“Listing”).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) were principally involved in
the manufacture and sale of jewellery products, trading of precious
metals and other raw jewellery materials and luxury watches.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company of
the Company is HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd.,
which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and the ultimate
controlling company is HNA Group Co., Ltd., which was
incorporated in Hainan Province, the People’s Republic of China

(“PRC).

Pursuant to a Deed of Appointment of Receivers dated 26 February
2020, Messrs. Lai Kar Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were appointed as joint and several
receivers over the 129,372,494 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Charged Shares”) held by HNA Aviation Investment Holding
Company Ltd., representing approximately 74.96% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company (the “Receivership”).

The Receivership was made under the share charge dated 12
September 2017 in respect of the Shares entered into between HNA
Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd. as chargor and Option
Best Holdings Limited as chargee. The Shares were pledged to Option
Best Holdings Limited to secure a term loan facility up to HK$600
million made available under a facility agreement dated 8 September
2017 entered into between HKA Group Holdings Company Limited,
a related company with HNA Aviation Investment Holding
Company Ltd., as borrower and Option Best Holdings Limited as
lender.

The Receivers entered into a memorandum of understanding (the
“MOU”) with an independent third party (the “Potential Purchaser”)
on 19 November 2020 in relation to the possible sale and purchase of
the Shares (the “Possible Transaction”).

Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited i i £ £ [ ¥ i A B 2 7

2w B 5 B R

AR B A IR F] ([ A D) 8 2014 4F
6 716 1 75 B 2 A 5 5k M oy 2 M e A PR
Al o ARy AR EE MO S R B Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands * 7% 23 7] JI)& 43 A 2015
A3 11 H R #8558 5 B A RS\ (T E
Jir 1) AR B (T BT )

AR E 202143 A 31 H IRAEE > AR &) Je =t
JE AT (SRE TSR ) £ sk I e Bk
B H e E L AERE F AR S T

HEGR S o AN T 0 LB R s T i BH 2 B
K5 5 M B ST 1 HNA Aviation Investment Holding
Company Led. » T H d5c 8 2 JI 24 m) J i v 3 A
BN (1 rp 2 1) v B 2 o ST 1) 36 i 42
HIRAF]

R 2020472 H 26 H A3 A ZAT YR > 1) »
B B BR T & wt AT A B 8 BB A B AT R S 2
L HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ld.
JAAR 23 G HF A 9 129,372,494 B 38 ¢ (2 BLAT
ety 1) > MEZAT I SE[R] R A B8 N > A R i
HIEAL R 2T B A TIAR74.96% (TR ) -

55 T9 M5 H HNA Aviation Investment Holding
Company Led. ( 7 % 41 % A ) B2 Option Best
Holdings Limited ({f: 23 7R 150 A) £ 2017 4£9 A
12 OB A5 5T S0 2 B R BT AR i o AR 45 HKA
Group Holdings Company Limited » HNA
Aviation Investment Holding Company Led. Y
B T 2 W (FE 24 15 3K N) B Option Best Holdings
Limited (fF 2 85N ) BTS2 H 81 52017 49 H
8 H 2 Ml & 1wk > M0y 2 4K 41 T Option Best
Holdings Limited > LA W15 5 £ 600 [ & T2
SE S BRE R

A N Bl — 2 S =07 (VAR E 7 ) sl e
EEBM (TRIEERE S ) 112020411 H19 HET
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the MOU, the Receivers and the Potential Purchaser (the
“Parties”) shall negotiate and enter into a formal sale and purchase
agreement (the “Formal Agreement”) in relation to the Possible
Transaction within 42 days after the date of the MOU (or such other
date as the Parties may agree) (the “Exclusivity Period”).

The Company is not in the position to ascertain the validity of the
Receivership and the outcome thereof. Nevertheless, given that HNA
Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd. is a controlling
shareholder of the Company, the Receivership may result in the sale
of the Shares to the Potential Purchaser.

On 21 June 2021, the Company was informed by the Receivers over
the Charged Shares that no formal sale and purchase agreement had
been entered into in respect of the possible sale and purchase of the
Charged Shares, and the MOU was expired and terminated on 20
June 2021. The Board was further informed by the Receivers that it is
still their current intention to sell the Charged Shares and the
Receivers are identifying potential third-party purchasers and are in
discussion with several of them in relation to the disposal of the
Charged Shares, which may trigger a mandatory general offer under
the Takeovers Code and hence a change of controlling shareholder of
the Company should any purchaser(s) acquire 30% or more of the
voting rights of the Company. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 23 June 2021 for further details.

For details of the Receivership and the relevant updates, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 13 March 2020, 15 April
2020, 15 May 2020, 15 June 2020, 15 July 2020, 18 August 2020,
22 September 2020, 16 October 2020, 16 November 2020, 26
November 2020, 24 December 2020, 31 December 2020, 19 January
2021, 22 February 2021, 1 March 2021, 1 April 2021, 19 April
2021, 14 May 2021, 26 May 2021 and 23 June 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

oy ) B B B R (4)

TR W R A RX Bk > AT N BT B Oy (TR 4
T7 1) R e ARG T sk H R 42 H R (BRT#9 07
I RE Toh AE A B A F ) (T P30 1)k nT A
A2 5 W R AT Sr 1E R B ek (T IE ek ) o

AN TR T FE A W AT R E B FLAE AR © SR
5 JA HNA Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd.
Py A R PSR A AT AR MR B VB AR
7 AR LAy o

20216 H 21 H » #0885 OV 0y
TR N MR AT AR B E ORI T
SEAT A IF 20 B R T R o T R R O Bk 2R
202146 H 20 H 2 A K&k - g8 A
e HOH R B B
TS NEWEEES =T EE > WEHHE
ELRL 3y B H e A 3B AT g AT B
S TE VTR B 2 SN < B TETS Y i o A 1
%> UL > AT AT B 7 U B AR 2 7] 300 B 2L
PEERE > AN W I SOME s B A B o A B
— S FERMANF HY A 202146 H 23
HZ M o

AREE MMBEEHRNFEN > F2HALN
A H W 5202043 H 13 H ~ 2020454 H 15 H »
202045 H 15 H ~ 2020F6 H 15 H ~ 202047
H15H ~ 202048 H 18 H ~ 20204£9H 22 H ~
2020910 H 16 H ~ 2020411 H 16 H ~ 20204
11 H26H ~2020%12 H24 H ~ 2020412 A 31
H~2021%1H19H ~202142H22H ~ 2021
FE3H1H 202154 H1H ~202154H19H »
202145 H 14 H ~ 202145 H 26 H % 202146
H 23 HIA M »
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

94

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2021 are as follows:

Name
A

KTL Jewellery Holdings

Group Limited
SR A IR A

KTL Management Limited
=R RAR

K.T.L. Development
Co., Limited
=MEEARA R

KTL (Guangzhou)
Jewellery Limited*

HER (B ) A FR 2 )~

Alan'’s Jewellery Company Limited
R B A R 7

Guangzhou KTL
Jewellery Limited*

B T A PR

KTL Jewellery Trading Limited
(“KTL Trading”)

SMERE R H IR
([=FKEES )

KTL Jewellery Manufacturer
(Europe) Limited

*

enterprises under PRC law.

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary
registration share capital/
and business registered capital
ALY WA ORISR
TR IR A /I A
British Virgin Islands HK$1,950,009
S AT R 1,950,009 #t
Hong Kong HK$10,000
il 10,000 7¢
Hong Kong HK$10,000
il 10,000 ¢
PRC/ HK$10,000,000
Mainland China 10,000,000 ¥ 7
Wi/ K B
Hong Kong HK$10,000
i 10,000 7¢
PRC/ HK$10,000,000
Mainland China 10,000,000 # 7T
e/ K B
Hong Kong HK$10,000
His 10,000 # 7C
Hong Kong HKS$1
i 17T

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign-owned

Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited i i £ £ [ ¥ i A B 2 7

o3 B 5 BB (41

IR 7% B R 2~ ) B

R202143 H 31 H > AL ) EEHHE A 7 RS

LUNE

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

A4y ) e IEHE T 23 b

Direct Indirect

Hik fil

100 -

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal activities
T EEH

Investment holding

BE L

Provision of
management services to
intra-group companies
1] 5[4 7 3 7
THLE SRS

Investment holding

and provision of car

rental service to

inter-group companies
BCEPEM B S A A )
SRR B

Manufacture of jewellery

HRE R

Trading of jewellery
KHE)

Manufacture and
trading of jewellery

HHRERE Y

Manufacture and
trading of jewellery

and investment holding
BEREREY
AR B

Trading of
jewellery

KERY

* 7% S5 BT R 2 R RRLAERE o 35 A 5 A

AR o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company, which in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis which assumes, inter alia, the realisation of assets and satisfaction
of liabilities in the normal course of business, and the directors were
not informed by the Receivers over the Charged Shares that formal
sale and purchase agreement had been entered into in respect of the
possible sale and purchase of the Charged Shares as at the date of
approval of these financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

2.1

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

oy ) B B B R (4)

IR 7% B BB 2~ w1 R (48)

ERIURARR Z WE AT - MERBS > %
S5 WA > ) 36 A B S A A T R R B U AR
MG EF L B2 - RN FEHH
o B 23 7] 2 RE S S| BRI TR -

A BRI G w A g ((FE e
wHIZN 1) A ) 7 S S ) (T A ol
Bt e I D) (RO B A 7 s BV i o R T
A gt (A g et ) R kg) - &
B TR w R B A v wAGR 91 ) 40 AR
B o 55 IS B AR AR R S A A A
M 2 FUAE T AR 2 1 4 028 O 4 8 AL (BT
IR o ATl LT (7T ) 251
B A TEWIS > BT BE S DU A B R R
T E -

A% S SRR R PR A A EE R RE
v B3 ) 75 IE B B SE T A R o A B R I 5
fR5 > T AEHLHERZ SR B GR H ) > SE I
IS C A B M A S ARt AT
AE S BT OB B0 250 T I A B 0k o

o
o
R

L ¥t

ARG WS TR AL G AR O ) B HL B B s F R
202143 H 31 H IE4F B 1 BB 3R o BB A W
B AR A H RO B 0 B (S A5 AL
) o E A A 5 2 B ARG O i EH T
AR T 3 ] R 109 JE B R A T A (] SR HE R
A 5 135 R R A E O R (R T
ZR A B AT 6 36 7 g A% T AR B T B ) BE A
RER) 5% B2 58 [ #RIRF > B4 I RE -

o7
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

2.1

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
()  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings/
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) and the following

revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework and the
revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

The Conceptual Framework sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to all
parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the
concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did
not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
B 202143 7 31 A IE4FE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
transactions or other events that occurred on or after 1 April
2020. The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of the
alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly affected by
these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group as the
Group does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information, or both. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance

of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKEFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKEFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 16
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements

to HKFRSs 2018-2020

o A w N =

adoption

Reference to the Conceptual Framework'
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2*

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
Insurance Contracts’
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021
Insurance Contracts”®
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current™’
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use*
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'
Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKEFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41¢

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align

the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in

October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 2.3 CUAH A 1H 1 AR A R ih 7 ok B 5 4k e Y

(CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations for which
the acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount
when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the change
is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the
new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding the change. In
addition, the amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued.
Any gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk
component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the
hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose additional
information to enable users of financial statements to understand the
effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and
shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate
the comparative information. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
B 202143 7 31 A IE4FE

2.3

102

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease (the “2020 Amendment”). The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 and
shall be applied retrospectively. In April 2021, the HKICPA issued
another amendment to HKFRS 16 to extend the availability of the
practical expedient for any reduction in lease payments that affects
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 (the “2021
Amendment”). The 2021 Amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 and shall be applied
retrospectively. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it
complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements provide
guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements support the amendments
in HKAS 1 by explaining and demonstrating the application of the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for
entities to disclose their “significant” accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their “material” accounting policies and
adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 8 introduce a new definition of “accounting
estimates”. The amendments are designed to clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. Distinguishing between a change
in accounting policy and a change in accounting estimates is, in some
cases, quite challenging. To provide additional guidance, the amended
standard clarifies that the effects on an accounting estimate of a
change in an input or a change in a measurement technique are
changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the
correction of prior period errors.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 (recognition
exemption) so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the
proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in
profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application
without restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying HKFRS 16.

2.3

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint venture are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of a joint venture
is included in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
joint venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint venture is included as part of the Group’s
investments in joint venture.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.
In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises
any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of significant influence
or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

3.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:
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Furniture and fixtures 20% AR B2 20%
Office equipment and computers 20% to 33% WO B X B 20% % 33%
Plant and machinery 20% W Bt 20%
Motor vehicles 20% HH 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.

(a)

(®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties 2 to 6.5 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of offices and car park lots (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
: « » - h . .
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.

ER G BORBEE (5

Derecognition of financial assets kTR A b A

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or S RE E (B (UngE ) — TE 4 G E A — R4
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised —AFE AR EE N —E ) FEAL T I
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial DL % 1R R (B A B2 Y 555 5 IR 0 3%

position) when:
. the rights to reccive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime

ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date.
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Financial liabilities LA fE
Initial recognition and measurement BT M w

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
payables, as appropriate.

These financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value and less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

3.

ER G BORBEE (5

B B

SO 4l B 77 AL 5 WACHBUA B B A P
A7 WA G IR 4 2 TR (ELRRERR. o ik ol By BiL B S IR
A B - B i SR Al 1 AR S 0 T R
R AU o

e ol D0y BEL 7 AT B > S AR {EL R AR SR A
M > SIf A B O TR W A U R A
Oy 4B 1] A AR K BA % E A MR T (EL AT
Wi o S0 A A0 1A 8 B ST St o] R AR K o

Revenue recognition e 25 T 2

Revenue from contracts with customers g R s aliolli g

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of B AR WA B IR B T RE R T &
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that FIRFHERD > H 4 %E B i 7 4 5] 7 00 i < 52 55

reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
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revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will N R L N e TP

not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable

consideration is subsequently resolved.

Sales of goods A

The Group’s revenue is mainly sales of goods. Revenue for sale of ALEE MG FER G E RN - SIERMN
goods is recognised when the Group transfers all the control of goods WAL i 7 A AR L5 £ 0 T A T RE R TR
to the customer and no longer reserves any right to continue to BT A7 68 4 205 00 B 0 I B T A

manage and implement effective control which is often associated
with the ownership of the goods, and costs incurred or to be incurred
can be measured reliably. The revenue for the sale of goods is
recognised on prices received or receivable from the customer
according to the contract or agreement. A receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees” basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions vest fully once made and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B 202143 7 31 A IE4FE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
cach payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries established in
Mainland China and overseas are currencies other than HK$. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HKS$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of the
exchange fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of certain subsidiaries established in Mainland China and
overseas are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these
entities which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are set out below:

(i) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group has adopted the simplified expected credit loss
model for its trade receivables, as allowed by HKFRS 9. The
Group referred to the experience of historical credit losses,
integrated with the current situation and the forecast of the
future economic situation, and prepared the model which
refers to the days past due and the expected credit loss rate
during lifetime, in order to assess the expected credit loss.
Management will reassess the provision by the end of reporting
period. Further details are contained in notes 21 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(ii)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is based on the estimated
selling price less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal with reference to prevailing market
information. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience in selling goods of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in market conditions. The Group reassesses net
realisable value of inventories at the end of each reporting
period. Further details are contained in note 20 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

5.  REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
and disaggregated revenue information are as follows:

L E Y Tigidgi

A [ B 5 A AR W R Rl aR BB T
LU

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T3 T#EIC
Revenue recognised at a point in time A TR [ R 1) s

— Sales of jewellery products* — BHEETRE A 146,981 46,867
— Sales of luxury watches — $EEL N T8k 9,727 5,682

— Sales of precious metals and other raw — S M A TR E
jewellery materials JEL A 5,936 101,489
162,644 154,038

* During the year ended 31 March 2020, HK$71,000 of revenue
was related to sales of jewellery products to a joint venture.

(i)  Operating segment

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of
jewellery products, trading of precious metals and other raw
jewellery materials and luxury watches. Management has
determined the operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the chief operating decision makers, who have
been identified as the executive directors of the Company.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, focuses on the operating results of the
Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated.
Accordingly, the Group has identified one reportable operating
segment, i.e. manufacture and sale of jewellery products, and
no further analysis thereof is presented.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A IO 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

5.  REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. Wesi K A BE(A)
(CONTINUED)
(i)  Geographical segment i) MR
(a)  Revenue from external customers (@) ZREINHFEFHKLE

2 FITALE 3L IR 23 1) AR S i 2 R}
TIARYRANI R 5 A0 SE R T e |l ik
I 2 K 257

Information about the Group’s revenue by geographical
location is presented based on the jurisdiction or
country in which the external customer is operated.

(b)

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4F

HK$°000 HK$000

Tt T kT

Americas ES 79,629 12,173
Europe (including Russia) R (A5 AR ) 48,622 17,508
Asia (including Mainland China) B (LS P B R ) 18,158 19,669
Hong Kong Tk 15,914 103,002
Other countries HoAh B 5 321 1,686
162,644 154,038

Non-current assets excluding financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Information about the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, is presented based on the locations of the assets.

(b) e AE (A B HRA AR A

TH 2 B B L )

AL IR ) B (SR A R
(B RH A HE 4 0 4 BB ) (19 RS

HRPR R T LI 2 571 o

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4

HK$°000 HK$000

Tt THIT

Hong Kong Hils 2,410 4,377
Mainland China LN %3 1,059 1,458
3,469 5,835

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands
while the Group operates its business in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. During the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020, no revenue was generated from any
customer in the Cayman Islands and no assets were
located in the Cayman Islands.

AN TR RE M A B2 R - A

B T A s B o K

ReE I

B o AR A 2021 4F X 20204F3 A 31
H R4 > B2 B B AT o] %5 5 5
$E 2 A AT AT AR o L AT ]

BB -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

5.  REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WeaE Ko ERE R (%)
(CONTINUED)
(iii) Information about major customers (i) ARHEEEFNER
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% FRE EEEF IS0t (W5 A E Ehik t
or more of the Group’s revenue for the year, including sales to 10% B LA b)) (L35 1] 2 J0 B 3% % 5 4L [m] 44
a group of entities which are known to be under common I — A ERAE RS E) Wy
control with that customer, is as set out below:
2021 2020
2021 4F 20204F
HK$000 HK$’000
T Tt
Customer A HFA 61,785 N/A AT i
Customer B %FB 48,640 18,790
Customer C %P C 16,412 N/A AN T *
Customer D %F D N/A 3 i 102,930
Customer E EPE N/A A 3 i+ 19,663
* Less than 10% of revenue * DRI AR 1 10%
(iv) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (ivy HFPALMERARE
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities WA WA A SN
The following table shows the revenue recognised in the NRIR IR AT IR T RERR A B 4TS
current reporting period relating to carried-forward contract A
liabilities:
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$000
T FHsoc
Revenue recognised that was included in ERFIA BRI ALE
the contract liabilities at the beginning B B ERR A ik -
of the year:

Sales of jewellery products during the year RN B B R E

- 100
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

5.  REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(v)  Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of jewellery products

The Group’s performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the products and payment is generally due within 120 days
from delivery for major customers.

Sales of luxury watches

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
luxury watches and payment is generally due within 120 days
from delivery.

Sales of precious metals and other raw jewellery materials

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
precious metals and other raw jewellery materials and payment
is generally due within 120 days from delivery.

No transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are disclosed as
at 31 March 2021 and 2020 because all the remaining
performance obligations are a part of contracts that have an
original expected duration of one year or less.

6. OTHERINCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

W sk B 43 BB B (A7)

v) HBEHEIE
AL E K EAT SRR A

B B R TR
AR P A FAT T E i S R A > —
B EHK 22 120 H B

B E BT

AR T A STAT A 5 18 o T R S A+ g 2
W O B AR 120 H NETIATER -

1 L Lt RS JE AR

A% S T A6 BAT A 9 o B HL A PR B
FERFSE AT R AR > — Mt B 2 AT Rt 120
HAE AT o

42021 4F K 202043 H 31 H » 4 48 43 i
ERR A EAT (% Al a8 43 o 22 )
W28 S (E A > TR H 2 T A 8% T B 4 S AT
IR R AR A —F 0 A S

—H5 o

HAA

2021 2020

20214 2020 4F

HK$’000 HK$000

Tt THsoT

Government grants* R A B+ 144 200
Interest income from bank deposits SRATIE A B A 44 72
Dividend income 3NN 434 -
Others HAth 91 84
713 356

Government grants were received by certain subsidiaries of the
Company in Mainland China as government subsidies. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies in relation to the grants.

* /AN ESR R PN ) A SR

i A 2% IORE AR R o MG IR A 0 190 O
BT R IR I
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
A 20214F3 1 31 FUEAFE

7.  OTHER GAINS, NET AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 7. HibWegs

Other gains, net

Foftess - WA

> ARk LA 1R -

2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF¥oL THsTT
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries LA B R 2 it 815 2,285
Gains on disposal of property, plant and WY -~ R BRI - AR
equipment, net - 786
815 3,071
Other losses, net HAph g8 > 55
2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tkt FHsIC
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value Y08 FUME R AR 25 1) 4 V& B
through profit or loss N e lE I E 56,221 45,321
Transaction cost for financial assets at fair value %72\ fR{H 5F AT 15 19 4 Bl & &
through profit or loss 2o A - 710
Losses on disposal of property, plant and Y WUS SRR - TR
equipment, net 63 -
Foreign exchange differences, net SRR ZEFR > TR 1,494 502
57,778 46,533
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WA A
2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FioL THsTT
Interest on borrowings AR 276 764
Interest on factoring of trade receivables & 5 MEUS B AR 3 ]S - 101
Interest on lease liabilities HEAMEME 80 76
356 941
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

LOSS BEFORE TAX 9.

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

3 B il s 48

A BRBLAT R A B (FEA) T oI & T A%
PR

2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
[ingEa Tt Tkt
Cost of inventories sold CEAE A 122,502 134,892
Employee benefits (including directors’ A& B AR R (045 25 5 5T
remuneration) 7,879 7,881
Salaries and other benefits 4 S HoA A #5 7,523 7,165
Pension scheme contributions BAR A B K 356 716
Management consultancy fees Gk (i) 9,000 9,000
Depreciation of property, plant and W2~ WE M EE
equipment 15 964 2,810
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i R & P A 17 293 229
Auditors’ remuneration A% BT 4 1,449 1,583
Auditors of the Company AN T A SR 1,150 1,344
Other auditors HAth 4% B 299 239
Lease payments not included in ARFAME A ERE R
the measurement of lease liabilities 422 444
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of AR, (7 i 1)) &
inventories to net realisable value ] s A 20 256 (922)
(i)  The management consultancy fees paid and payable to () #E 202143 H 31 HIEE > B 50h K

directors of the Company’s subsidiaries amounted to
HK$9,000,000 (2020: HK$9,000,000) for the year ended 31
March 2021.

AT AN F) ) B 2 ) 2 =R 1 A B i 2
9,000,000 %5 7T (2020 4F : 9,000,000 % J0) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10. 5 A B i
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing B PR AR AR TR T R i N WAk 491 4 383(1)
Rules and section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong @) > (b) ~ (©) K (DML B N 7] (P &5 ¥ 35 A1 25
Companies Ordinance and part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of HORE) BB B B R A

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4
HK$°000 HK$’000
Filbe T
Fees i 600 600
600 600
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no share options 3 2021 4F K 20204F 3 A 31 H IR4EJE > #EdEH
were granted to the directors. JOHELZ I FAE
(i) Independent non-executive directors G) BorIEPATESR
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during B 2021 4F K 20204F 3 /1 31 H L 4R FE 3L
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 were as follows: TR I AT E R BT
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tilbe TR
Lo Chun Pong RIS 200 200
Chan Chi Kuen WG HE 200 200
Ting Tit Cheung T 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent B 2021 4F 2202043 J1 31 H ILAEJE -
non-executive directors during the years ended 31 March 2021 7 40 Al JRE A 8 7 AT A S
and 2020.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A IO 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10. HF A KA (4])
(CONTINUED)
(ii) Executive directors (i) WITESF
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
Wi ~ Bk
Lk B B 4 G i st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T oo
2021 2021 4F
Su Zhiyi* ks — - - - -
Xiong Cong* @ R e - - - -
Cai Si* BRI+ . _ _ _
Li Neng” Zher - - - -
Zhao Minhao R - - - -
Zhao Yeyong" AL - - - -
* Appointed as executive directors of the Company on 16 * R 20204F9 H 16 H & Z AT By AR A #
September 2020 WATH R
e Appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company on e 202049 H 16 H # Z AT B 4 28 7
16 September 2020 TR
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
Wra - HAL Bk
e REWAE FEEIAEER HEt
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
Tt T THETC Tt
2020 2020 4F
Li Neng” ZRe” - - - -
Zhao Minhao” R - - - -
Zhao Yeyong" AHRE - - - -
# Appointed as executive directors of the Company on 28 * 201946 H 28 B 4 Z AT 13 A A )
June 2019 and resigned on 16 September 2020 BWATHEF - 2202049 H 16 H BHE
During the year ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments, TR 2021 43 31 A L AEBE R - HE A
retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of LA 1B I ] AT g R R
termination of directors’ services were paid or made, directly or SCAT BRI~ R AE R 3K A
indirectly, to the executive directors; nor are there any payable FI| o LA 418 A 0] JRE A ST (2020 ¢ 41) o
(2020: Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable by A 0 ef 412 {3 2 S RS 1) 5 = Oy R AR
third parties for making directors’ services available (2020: o H AR = 07 B (20204 ¢ ) - AR
Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in B MR R A A A A B g
favour of the directors, their controlled body corporates and T Y RN T R B R 22 5
connected entities (2020: Nil). (2020 4F : 4IE) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

10.

11.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10.

(CONTINUED)

(ii) Executive directors (continued)

The executive directors were not paid directly by the Company
in respect of their services to the larger group which includes
the Company and its subsidiaries. Instead, they received
remuneration from other companies of HNA Group Co. Ltd.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 11.

No director was included in the five highest paid employees for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). The remuneration of the five
highest paid employees are as follows:

3 A S s ()

Gi) PATES (M)

AN TG A PUAT 2 o ) A AR m)
LAY Jag 2> T A A B BBK SR I B R IR s i
LA ) HL SRR o AR AR R AR
iU S B AT BR 2 ) ) oAt 2 WM <5

T 44 J5 9 5 B 0 B

HZE 202143 H 31 H L4 B B9 T4 B i 5 B g
Bl AN ALE S (20204F ¢ HE) o T4 e Hr
fE B4t T -

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4F

HK$°000 HK$000

BRI FHsIC

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B TERS KEYAIE 4,646 4,832
Pension scheme contributions ARG FT LK 39 25
4,685 4,857

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Tl Jg LA T 6 [ 1) S 7 = v TN ARE BN
T

Number of employees

B B ¥ H
2021 2020
2021 4E 2020 4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 41,000,000 #5 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7€ % 1,500,000 ¥ I 3 3
5 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax of the Group has been provided at the applicable tax
rates on estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong and

Mainland China during the year.

12.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

e 15 58 B 3¢

AN SR T I 7 R o A R R A
i R i ) 2 28 B R R 4R T S B A -

2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$000
Tt THsIT
Current — Hong Kong B —

Charge for the year FEIRNSCH - -

Current — Mainland China BN — g ok
Charge for the year RN 380 59
Deferred (note 28) PRAE (B 5T 28) (54) 299
Total tax charge for the year AR NBLIE 3 AR 326 358

@

(ii)

(iii)

Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands corporate
income tax

The Company is not subject to any taxation in the Cayman
Islands.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”) are not subject to any taxation in the BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the rate of 16.5% (2020:
16.5%). The operation in Hong Kong has incurred net
accumulated operating losses for income tax purposes and no
income tax provisions are recorded for the year ended 31
March 2021.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of
entities within the Group established in the PRC and was
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations of the
PRC after considering the available tax benefits from refunds
and allowances. The general PRC CIT rate was 25% for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

@

(i)

(iii)

PR 2 T e % 9% R Ak 8 I O A R S
(G

AR T AN B S S AT AT B

A ) 7 0 T A T R Iy (T A A
HE By 1) R S ) B 2 ) B R A
JiEy A T R B A AT B

13 B

AN T v ST B RS N ) ZE 4%
16.5% M Bi 2R (2020 4F 1 16.5%) H48 & W
FIFSHL - BT RBLN S > RN EWH I ED
A R IR IF A > BE20211F
3 H 31 H 1k 4F FE S M 345 BT S B Ay -

o R 4 3 B 1 B ([ A3 1982 )

1> ZE T 15 B 58 1 AR 48 A4 117 v B A
ST B B 0 A T RE SRR T A AR H I TR
B A B R AR R IR R AT A AY
AR B 0 S B A o A 2021 4F K
20204F3 H 31 H IR B > — i 4 2
A BB R 5 25% ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(iv) PRC withholding income tax

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised amounted to HK$864,000
(2020: HK$2,884,000).

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

12. WS BiBH % (%)

(iv)

e 0 11 4809 4

HRYE A A 25 AT A I > A A B K A
ANPINEE S <o ¥ b NP N Erd < S
TR B R S IR 100 TN BL - 5% B
200841 H 1 HAEAERL > I 8 i 2007 4F
12 731 HARFE LR B o 25 v O e B
N RS - IR A TR R R
A1 B 4% A AT R R A TE AR R - R
202143 31 H > B op 5K [ e 2 7
& A B o A e 2 1 A B B R YRR
P 26 &H A EH £ 864,000 5 T (2020 4F ¢
2,884,000 #57C) ©

FEAS 2N A T H R 0 B g 2w ] v R L Y
T 8 B A G T R 0 i e 4 B A I B S B
i v 7 B SR BLUET MR R % 1 B T B S SRR n
o

2021 2020
2021 4% 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#ou T T
Loss before tax 5 I e 1 (74,672) (67,336)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% R E L 16.5% 71 A 1B (12,321) (11,110)
Different tax rates for specific provinces R E A AR B Bl el
or enacted by local authority 8 B8 LA ) AN TR B 11,457 8,633
Effect of tax impact of apportionment B S28 ($050 = 50 BEUEHES)) *
under a 50:50 basis* 528 430
Income not subject to tax P GRON (331) -
Expenses not deductible for tax ENCIEIG 287 407
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised A< T 5 ' Ik 2 %A 1 B 75 5 2 - 19
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised S fif R B TEL e 1R 1) B 3 706 1,979
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate T A B B R T R BT B 5 326 358
* In relation to the Departmental Interpretation and Practice Notes * A T BTSSR (BT 6 B R 3% SO AT 5 1 46

No. 21 (Revised) (apportionment under a 50:50 basis) of the
Inland Revenue Department Hong Kong, a portion of KTL
Trading’s loss is considered to be neither arisen in, nor derived
from Hong Kong. Accordingly, that portion of KTL Trading’s loss
is not allowed for further utilisation for Hong Kong profits tax
purpose.

There was no share of tax attributable to a joint venture during the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

13. DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A IO 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

LOSS PER SHARE FOR LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 14, A2y w) 3 i B HE 5 55 A N AN i R 2 55
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE i s 48
COMPANY

A J A M 18 4 R T AR AR N ) 0 5 S
AN AL 4 1A I 18 74,998,000 #5 TC (2020 4F -
67,694,000 5 7T ) B AT 1A T 45 4 735 40 I 14 i~
H#172,600,000 A% (2020 4F © 172,600,000 %) #F
B0 #E 20214 KX 202043 A 31 HIL4ESE > A
AL [N 4 2 954 T 1) ELA T A U ) A o

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$74,998,000 (2020: HK$67,694,000), and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 172,600,000 (2020: 172,600,000) in
issue during the year. The Group had no dilutive potential ordinary
shares in issue during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 3 ~ B Bkt
Office
equipment
Furniture and Plant and Motor
and fixtures computers machinery vehicles Total
E219)3 ] & s B
HH a1 Heas wH A5k
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T oo T oo Ti#oo T oo T oo
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE20214F3 131 H
14
At 1 April 2020: R 20204F4 H 1 H -
Cost Jh A 20 1,178 326 15,001 16,525
Accumulated E iy
depreciation 3) (1,082) (280) (8,290) (9,655)
Impairment WA - - - (2,149) (2,149)
Net carrying amount W T (B 17 96 46 4,562 4,721
Net carrying amount: MR T 7 (H
At 1 April 2020 R 2020441 1 H 17 96 46 4,562 4,721
Additions NE - 85 - - 85
Depreciation provided RN EHE T
during the year (4) (61) (48) (851) (964)
Disposals g - - - (263) (263)
Disposal of subsidiaries S B A
(note 29) (PR 5E29) - - - (2,334) (2,334)
Exchange realignment FE 51, 7 5 1 5 2 20 28
At 31 March 2021 202143 A 31 H 14 125 - 1,134 1,273
At 31 March 2021: 202143 H31H ¢
Cost Jh A 21 1,208 352 5,810 7,391
Accumulated 2t ey
depreciation ) (1,083) (352) (3,990) (5,432)
Impairment WA - - - (686) (686)
Net carrying amount W TV 14 125 - 1,134 1,273
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B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BAE 202143 7 31 H R4

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3 -~ WG Rt (4)
(CONTINUED)
Office
equipment
Furniture and Plant and Motor
and fixtures computers machinery vehicles Total
EL3 /N W= K
HEH P& W R Mt
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THTT THTT TH#TT TH#IT THTT
Year ended 31 March 2020 B 20204E3 31 H
114 5
At 1 April 2019: R2019F4 H 1 H -
Cost A - 1,074 347 14,322 15,743
Accumulated B
depreciation - (881) (230) (7,538) (8,655)
Impairment WE - - - (2,716) (2,716)
Net carrying amount HE 1TV (E - 193 111 4,068 4,372
Net carrying amount: R -
At 1 April 2019 R20194E4 H 1 H - 193 111 4,068 4,372
Additions N E 20 111 — 3,582 3,713
Depreciation provided ENFHRITE
during the year 3) (205) (60) (2,542) (2,810)
Disposals g - - - (499) (499)
Exchange realignment [ffE 5, 57 4 - (3) (5) (47) (55)
At 31 March 2020 R 20204£3 131 H 17 96 46 4,562 4,721
At 31 March 2020: R20204E3 431 H -
Cost A 20 1,178 326 15,001 16,525
Accumulated iy
depreciation 3) (1,082) (280) (8,290) (9,655)
Impairment R (E — - — (2,149) (2,149)
Net carrying amount HR T 7 {1 17 96 46 4,562 4,721
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. E&E

Intangible assets represented club memberships which have no
specific maturity date pursuant to the terms and conditions of the HHH g3 Er g8 o Hoer i LN A BF S Bon
memberships. They are tested for impairment annually and whenever T RE R E NPT IR E R - AT HEERE
there is an indication that may be impaired. The directors of the RS R IAMETE & S (A% > 0 B3 50 JiU(E
Company are of the opinion that no impairment loss was identified k18 o

with reference to market values of each of the intangible assets.

JHETES Y R 5 AR R M AR S M T e L B B
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B S B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BWE 2021473 731 H IR

17. LEASES 17. Al
The Group as a lessee e UL Y N
The Group leases properties and rental contracts are made for fixed ALLEEEYE - AR E 2R 29806.5
periods of 2 years or 6.5 years. oo
(a)  Right-of-use assets @ fEAfEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and £ (B {d ) RE 5 S N T (L % 4F 7 5 )
the movements during the year are as follows: S
Properties
LZE S
HK$’000
TH#ET
Ac 1 April 2019 R201944 ] 1H -
Additions AN 1,231
Depreciation charge M (229)
Exchange realignment [iE 54, 54 7
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 202043 31 H % 202044 5 1 H 1,009
Depreciation charge Fres (293)
Exchange realignment [iFE 54, 58 65
At 31 March 2021 202143 A 31 H 781
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) A AR B R LN (48)
(b)  Lease liabilities by MEAME
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements A& & RRE (RN T T
during the year are as follows:
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T T IT
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year TAEA) 2 W 1,068 -
New leases B - 1,231
Accretion of interest recognised during the year AR il R RIS 3 80 76
Payments (DN (341) (244)
Exchange realignment [ifE i3 4 71 5
Carrying amount at the end of the year AME AR 2 MR 878 1,068
Analysed into: IR A
Current portion VA5 43 180 254
Non-current portion FE RIS 43 698 814
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35 B A B I DR A 5 AR 35 -
to the financial statements.
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (¢ RHEFHERNHEMBE ST
are as follows:
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T IT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 80 76
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets RS T 2 293 229
Expense relating to short-term leases S R AR B B S
(included in cost of sales and (FEA BB A I
administrative expense) B 32) 422 444
Total amount recognised in profit or loss AR A P RR A AR AR 795 749

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 30(b) to

the financial statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B e B R

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

18. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. REBAFZEE
Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows: AEEEGEAFMFHFWT -

Percentage of

[ipig:A
Place of
Amount of registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name issued capital and business interest power sharing activities
ka1 CHE AT R A R SEBE IS P AR &R BHE 0 43 i FEGE
Dynamic Tactics HK$780,000 Hong Kong 50 50 50 Trading of
(Hong Kong) 780,000 ¥ I G jewellery
Limited KHH S
The above investment is held by Dynamic Tactics Limited, a A b #% 2 A 452 8 B4 J85 2 W] Dynamic Tactics
subsidiary of the Group. Limited :#47 °
The following table illustrates the financial information of the TR AL B G E A W B ER  HOR ) &
Group’s joint venture that is not material: pNE
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T
Share of the joint venture’s loss for the year OGS A AR N R (13) 8)
Share of the joint venture’s total comprehensive I3 A T A TH R AL
loss (13) ®)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s A B A G N ) % R T AR
investment in the joint venture 91 105
There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Company’s interest W NN o = /NET R - o | i A W/ = K - O R
in the joint venture, and no contingent liabilities of the joint venture N TS By R A 9K B R o

itself.
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B A T 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. &0 RfiE AR 2 & E

PROFIT OR LOSS

(i)  Classification of financial assets at fair value through () A RMAFI AR RE RS
profit or loss
The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value AEENE LT S RE E 0B A A A
through profit or loss: FrAES ¢
. debt instruments that do not qualify for measurement . AFF LG A BHL A SLEFEA

at either amortised cost or at fair value through other Hopt A i A s I ATE T H

comprehensive income;

. equity investments that are held for trading; and . FHEREMRARE 5 X
. equity investments for which the entity has not elected . B I 988 4507 0 HL b A T i 5
to recognise fair value gains or losses through other TR S I A BB R B IR o

comprehensive income.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss O AR AEFE AR £ 19 4 il L DL
include the following: %I
2021 2020
20214F 20204F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THETT
Included in non-current assets: A FETRBY & B -
Hong Kong listed equity securities (a) Frits LT B RERE 25 (a) 95,485 -
Life insurance policy (b) NGER IR (b) 17,111 16,720
112,596 16,720
Include in current assets: FEA B & E -
Hong Kong listed equity securities (a) i LT RS R () - 152,201
112,596 168,921
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(@

(ii)

Classification of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (continued)

()

(b)

The fair values of Hong Kong listed equity securities are
determined based on the quoted market closing prices
available on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting
period.

Under the life insurance policy (the “Policy”), the
beneficiary and policy holder is KTL Jewellery Trading
Limited and the total insured sum is US$6,500,000
(equivalent to HK$50,375,000). The Group paid an
upfront premium for the Policy of US$2,325,000
(equivalent to HK$18,020,000) and may surrender any
time by filing a written request and reccive cash based on
the surrender value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal,
which is calculated by the insurer. In the opinion of the
directors, the surrender value of the Policy provided by the
insurance company is the best approximation of its fair
value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

The movements in fair value measurement within Level 3
(life insurance policy) during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

19. A RALE AH S Z SR ()

() A RAFEH AR 25 SR R 4 38 (4

@

(b)

TR IIA > A b T IR A R A
AR H WG 22 T T ol 7

RIEAF R ([RZARE]) - Z%
N B AR B AT N =TIk B B S A R
7y > R PR B8 4 FE 5 6,500,000 3
J6 (FHE 72 50,375,000 5 C) © A 4E H]
oz AR BTE AR 22 2,325,000 325 (M
H 18,020,000 #5 T ) K ] AR IE A 4R
LR AR BERFR R MARDERZ
AR B3 A AR R A (R AR AR R
B BB A o EHFRL 0 RBA A
R R R AR R (7 B R AH
I BERURA SUIE SR =4

FERA RS = (OB R
)R EB U ;

2021 2020

2021 4F 2020 4F

HK$°000 HKS$’000

T#T T#TT

At the beginning of the year TNEH) 16,720 16,189
Change in fair value VAPINIER )] 495 531
Exchange realignment [iFE 5, ) (104) -
At the end of the year TR 17,111 16,720

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following (losses)/gains were recognised

in profit or loss:

Gi) R TE 4 iR Y
R R (R 1R) /W 7E AR 4R P ERR -

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt oo T

Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets FN SUEFE AR S 1 2 flVE =
at fair value through profit or loss A FfE kR e

— Hong Kong listed equity securities — ik bR (56,716) (45,852)

— Life insurance policy — NFFRBR R 495 531

Dividend income i3S N 434 -
(55,787) (45,321)

2021 Annual Report SEEHRE 141



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT B e B R

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

20.

21.

142

INVENTORIES 20. f# 8
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4
HK$°000 HK$000
Tl FHL
Raw materials JE K R 13,915 10,812
Work in progress TE 4,479 3,550
Finished goods R 3,043 4,302
21,437 18,664

The write-down of inventories to net realisable value of HK$256,000
(2020: reversal of write-down of inventories of HK$922,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 is included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

BAE 202143 A 31 HILFBE > 77 B0 2 o] 5
B H 256,000 #5 I (2020 4F 17 5 filf b % [1]
922,000 %5 7C) B FFA G A 1 £ b HoAth 2 1 i £
TN TEEE A oo

income.
TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. ® 5 ERGKIE
2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4F
HK$000 HK$000
FioL Fisoc
Trade receivables B 5 S K IE 53,239 82,269
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts W R AR (2,102) (3,359)
51,137 78,910

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group will apply an internal credit assessment policy to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and define credit limits for each
customer. The credit period is generally for a period of 120 days for
major customers. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

21.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21. B 5 BEWOKIH (81
An ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables at the end of the AR AR B 5 F ) 2 5 A 5 RS S A
reporting period, based on the invoice date is as follows: FEARES AT R
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
Ti#x Tt
Within 1 month — A A 8,762 15,782
1 to 2 months — =W E A 15,054 6,991
2 to 3 months mE=MH 13,572 3,778
3 to 4 months == PUfE A 10,445 6,310
Over 4 months R DU AR H 5,406 49,408
53,239 82,269
The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, 7 A [ R A s B S i s A U 55 0 R E S )
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial LI > R HLE BV eRR i R e RR TR
recognition of the assets. Exi] i
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment are as follows: HEE IR BRI T
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tl T
At the beginning of the year JAAEA] 3,359 16,149
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment (ol (B e FELF3% ] ) ok (1
losses, net JEte o IR (1,341) 2,614
Write-off € - (15,373)
Exchange realignment [iEE 5, 3 84 (31)
At the end of the year AER 2,102 3,359
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

22, TEFFRIE - $%4 B H b Wk H

RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
IR FHsIc
Deposits i 1,703 6,292
Prepayments TEAS A 263 875
Other receivables HoAth S 3B 688 2,055
2,654 9,222

Note 35 sets out information about the impairment of financial assets
and the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

W 5 35 S 21 < 28 (L PO AT R R > AR AR
{5 B R

23. Bl& R SRATH R

2021 2020

2021 4E 2020 4F

HK$°000 HKS$°000

Tt Tt

Cash and bank balances 4 AR AT 45 B 37,213 27,915
Denominated in: ¥R A & HEEHE

HK$ ot 15,488 22,794

Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR AR 17,375 4,127

US$ FIT 4,350 994

37,213 27,915

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn respective interest. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A IO 5 R A M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24. © 5y B FoAthJRE A AR 0H I E Gt

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4F

HK$°000 HK$’000

Ry T kT

Trade payables & b A B 11,200 6,358
Other payables and accruals: FA A SR K R A

Salaries and bonus payables JREA 37 46 B AE AL 5,548 6,307

Other taxes payable HALREASBLIE 2,399 2,399

Auditors’ remuneration A% PP 1,450 1,475

Interest payable JEATFLE - 740

Others oAt 1,004 2,446

21,601 19,725

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting

TR R 2 3% 5 H ) 0 Y B A R

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: WREHS i
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Within 1 month — & H " 3,214 2,252
1 to 2 months — 2 W 723 957
2 to 3 months 2 =18 A 2,171 647
Over 3 months i =MmH 5,092 2,502
11,200 6,358

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the credit period of

purchases ranges from 30 to 180 days. Other payables are non-

interest-bearing and have an average credit term of 1 to 3 months.

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure

that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

5 o BEAT IR A B H AR (5 S F 30
H 2180 H o HAth BEAF 3R IH I A B AP 3915
BEIR A 1 =30 A o ASE B RO B A B
IR o DLEOR 2 B A R T A 0 4R

fit o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 25, JBEAR B B 1 v 1
2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4
HK$°000 HK$°000
T RS
Authorised: B
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares at par value of 2,000,000,000 fi% & 1 THI {1 0.005 ¥ ¢
HK$0.005 each 1) 3t 38 s 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: CEAT SABUE
172,600,000 ordinary shares at par value of 172,600,000 4 A% 11 {E 0.005 #5 7T
HK$0.005 cach ) 3t %8 3 863 863

AU A EL BRI AR i L M T F

A summary of the Company’s issued share capital and share premium
is as follows:

Number
of shares Share Share
in issue capital premium Total
C#1T
Jit 0y 1 H JRe A JB i 1 ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Tl T T
Authorised: I
As at 31 March 2020 and 2021 R 2020 4F J 2021 4F
3H31H 2,000,000,000 10,000 - 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BT A
Asat 31 March 2020 and 202043 731 H &
31 March 2021 202143 H31H 172,600,000 863 122,787 123,650
Note: Bt 5 -

Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, the Company agreed to issue
12,600,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of HK$0.20 per warrant on
14 August 2017. Each warrant entitled the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share of HK$0.005 cach at an initial subscription price of
HK$7.00 per share.

The warrant holder can subscribe for the same number of ordinary shares
at any time within two years commencing from the date of the issue of
warrants. The number of shares and the subscription price of the shares to
be issued do not vary with changes in their fair value. The warrants are
recognised initially at proceeds as a whole in equity. The transaction cost
that is directly attributed to the issue of the warrants is recognised net of
proceeds in equity.

No warrant was exercised up to the expiry date of 14 August 2019 and the
warrant reserve was transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

26.

27.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, each
of the Company’s subsidiaries that was registered in the PRC is
required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses), determined in accordance
with the PRC General Accepted Accounting Principles, to the
statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve funds reaches 50% of
the entity’s registered capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to
offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital, provided the remaining
balance of the statutory reserve is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose from the reorganisation for the
purpose of the Listing of the Group.

Capital surplus reserve

On 28 July 2014, a balance due to the immediate holding company
of the Company amounting to HK$105,366,000 was capitalised as
equity of the Group.

BORROWINGS

E AT A5 5%

Secured borrowings

26.

27

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

A A2 T 4 ) o D
B A A B B 251 -

E B ek

R R B A B B A B R A AR 22
2% BT g 2 W ZE B4 100 AR B A BR g R A
JUJ ot 7 19 4 B8 05 5 PR BLAR Ui M) (AR IS 39 A i 8
T E I RR) BEEME - B2 M5
T B 52 A R AHY 509 £ 1L o B IRE R
TP HR A T AR B R BT I > Mk e
AR T A BR A D IR EEMEAR 19 25% -

£ O Gt i

AR T 5 i 9 DRI A S T A o E
it o

o N A
201447 H 28 H » JEAT AL ) B8 #2127
2 GERRIE 105,366,000 #E TC B AL B A4 [ 4

i
it o

fif &

2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Fis e

- 9,924

In June 2018, the Group entered into three loan facility agreements
with a financial institution, which provided a total revolving facility
amount in the sum of HK$60 million. The borrowings under the
facility agreements bear interest at an interest rate of the HIBOR plus
6% per annum, and are due for repayment in one calendar year after
drawdown of such borrowings. The borrowings shall be secured by
the pledge of the Group’s trade receivables with the same amount as
that of the outstanding borrowings. As at 31 March 2020, the
borrowings outstanding under the facility agreements amounted to
HK$9,924,000, and were fully repaid in September 2020.

201846 H » A SR Bl — 5 & B AR 5T 5 =
Y EEEAE ik > IR IR IR A S A
60 H M IT o Bl 1R IE N 10 M S0 A v AR
TT1E PR BINAER R 6% 5B - 784 B £ iR
B B AREET—8 B g e T E R o A REE
JRE D) A £ 18 58 B E W sk VR > A B R S A
SR AR SR A SR - R 20204E3 H 31 H >
% Tl T T TEUR B R (B A B 45 9,924,000 5
It - A E Y 202049 H B fE % o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as

28. RSB

FENEIEBUH B B EB T

follows:

Loss available

Plant and for offsetting
equipment future taxable
depreciation profits Total
LIRS i%s]
& 5 B A 2% JE R i
e i o 85 i P B4 s 18 At
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T#x T#x
Ac 1 April 2019 20194F4 H 1 H - - -
Deferred tax charged to profit AR 2 H1 B 1Y) 9% LE B TE
or loss (note 12) (&t 12) (671) 372 (299)
At 31 March 2020 J# 202043 A 31 H (671) 372 (299)
Disposal of subsidiaries H B B 2 394 (255) 139
Deferred tax credited to profit AR B A MR 1) 38 S T
or loss (note 12) (B 5E12) 78 (24) 54
At 31 March 2021 R20214F3 H31H (199) 93 (106)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$49,091,000 (2020: HK$45,424,000), which were contributed
by the Hong Kong subsidiaries and can be carried forward
indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have been arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group also has tax losses arising in

Mainland China of HK$1,439,000 (2020: HK$827,000) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A IO 5 R A M

29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

29. R 2w

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
Tt Tt
Net assets disposed of: H
Property, plant and equipment L/ E DY ] 2,334 -
Trade receivables 5 e IA - 271
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEAT HOE ~ 2 4 M HoAth E IS OB 10 57
Tax recoverable AT il - 9
Other payables HoAt AT R OE (40) (1,735)
Deferred tax liabilities R FE R I 15 (139) -
Cash and bank balance Bl MSRAT S iR - 263
2,165 (1,135)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries H0 e 2 m) it 815 2,285
2,980 1,150
Satisfied by: AT
Cash Bl 2,980 1,150
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of A IR L R 2 D ) B B B 4 S AR R TR
the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: AT
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#EIC
Cash consideration HaenE 2,980 1,150
Cash and bank balance disposed of O B 4 S SRATAY B - (263)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in Eel R ) PSSR
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries BB EY A 2,980 887
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. HZAEBERBENGE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had no non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (2020: addition of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,231,000 each).

(@ FEEHEZH

TANAE TR A4 [ 510 e 36 A R A
EAMEN IR ERE (2020 4F © fd FH4E
%é&%ﬂ%%%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ1,231,000‘2%

Jo) e
(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RHEWGEAELNAGESE

Borrowings Leases

{333 s

HK$’000 HK$’000

T Tt

At 1 April 2019 20194 4H1H - -
Changes from financing cash flows il SR A ) 9,924 (168)
New leases BHE - 1,231
Foreign exchange alignment H1 HEE 4 5 - 5
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 #20204F3 H 31 H % 20204F4H 1 H 9,924 1,068
Changes from financing cash flows il B A L ) 9,924) (261)

Foreign exchange alignment A1 5 B - 71
At 31 March 2021 202143 H31H - 878

31. COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had no capital commitments

as at the end of the reporting periods.

31. HRIE

ARMEIE A K o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

32.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

@

(i)

The Group had the following material transactions with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2020, total service fee
of approximately HK$579,000 was paid to Guarantee
Travel Limited, an entity controlled by a close family
member of key management staff of major subsidiaries,
for the provision of reservation services for tickets and
hotel accommodation, etc. to a subsidiary of the Group.
The service charges were based on the terms and
conditions mutually agreed between both parties.

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s
sales to Dynamic Tactics (Hong Kong) Limited, a joint
venture of the Group, amounted to approximately
HK$71,000. The sales were based on the terms and
conditions mutually agreed between both parties.

() Management consultancy fees paid and payable to
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries amounted to
HK$9,000,000 (2020: HK$9,000,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (note 9).

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

32.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

oA Wik )y 52 5

()  FE20214 202053 H31 H IL4E % >
A BB O A AN RS

(@)  #A 202013 H 31 HIRFREE » ki
2 1 #8549 579,000 % T B AT T
PRI A BRA W > — R i E B
JB N FI R TR B R E
MERE > B Y5 n A4 B — R g
oy FI R AL S RO T ET RS o R
Bk T D 45 8 7 R L foh e R
R AR 1y M

(b)  #ZE20204F3 131 HIRAERE - AL
M ) A 5 H B A 8 2 A Dynamic
Tactics (Hong Kong) Limited fF i1 ¥
FHEERA 25 71,0004 T o S5 TI U
SR 5 R L 2 M S A R

(0  #AE 202143 H31 HILFERE - ©47
T A A= 7 ) B I 2 ) 3 =R 1) 45 5
w2 559,000,000 ¥ JC (2020 4F ¢
9,000,000 #5 7T) (Fff5E9) -

(i) AHERD 32 248 1R R T

2021 2020

20214 2020 4F

HK$°000 HK$000

Tt THIT

Short-term employee benefits K01 1R 5 4 A 3,792 4,176
Pension scheme contributions FER YN KE 4 15 7
3,807 4,183

Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

A B E I i — L RS EOR 45 B
B FE M E 10 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. FRFANE AR T H

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

AR R A S R R T (A

Financial assets 4 ik s
2021 2020
20214 2020 4
HKS$’ 000 HK$’000
T THsoT
Financial assets at amortised cost: Fi RS BLAS BRI S A 7
Trade receivables B 5 BEW R IE 51,137 78,910
Financial assets included in prepayments, FEATAT I ~ #2240 )
deposits and other receivables A TR WA T ) <6 Tl 1,903 6,316
Cash and bank balances B4 MSRAT &5 R 37,213 27,915
90,253 113,141
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  #% /2 FU{E R AR &5 1) 4 il & & 112,596 168,921
202,849 282,062
Financial liabilities e =N
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T oo
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: iR AT R 1 4 R
Trade payables E 5 REA #OH 11,200 6,358
Financial liabilities included in other payables A A B A LY <6 il B 15 2,454 4,661
Borrowings ENcN - 9,924
Lease liabilities HEAMA 878 1,068
14,532 22,011
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34.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34,
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

b T H O S & 2 fu i 4

ASE By e lE R AR 58 2 4 Rl T IO R TR (B

The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss are as follows: Fos FeEH AR
Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets LG E TR N VA W
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 2020 4F 20214 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
THsIT FioL Tisoc
Hong Kong listed equity s B RRERE IR ()
securities (i) 152,201 95,485 152,201
Life insurance policy (ii) NFFORBE PR B (i) 16,720 17,111 16,720
112,596 168,921 112,596 168,921

()

(i)

The fair value of Hong Kong listed equity securities is based on the
quoted market closing prices available on the stock exchange at the
end of the reporting period. These instruments are included in
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of the Policy is estimated at the surrender value of
the Policy as disclosed in note 19 as at the end of reporting period.
As there is no active market to demonstrate the fair value of this
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and the potential
exit price in a hypothetical transfer of the life insurance policy to
another market participant cannot be reliably estimated, the
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
surrender value is reasonable and is the most appropriate value at
the end of the reporting period. This instrument is included in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank

balances, trade receivables, financial assets included in other

receivables, trade payables and financial liabilities included in other

payables approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the

short term maturities of these instruments.

() B LT BB IR G O AL (AR R R A )
RTA T A T I B T S5 i B R A o W5
THRFAS N R(EERR -

(i) AANEREE 19 BT KRR o RO IR LR B 2
O FUAE TR % AR B AR R EAG B o
A I BT3GR R A A E RN AR AR 2
B P B S FOAE - LR T SE M A IR
B0 N T R PR B 5 — R T3 2 B
A IR DL (B > R YRR AR
B A5 Al w24 Fe (e B8 5 1 > T L 2
WA AR R E N EE - W TAFGASE =
BN FAETERR -

PRGOS B MORAT RS BR - 5 B GEK
T~ FEACHAR BECGIOE Y S E - B 5 AT
ARIA Bk A AR A R Y & B A 2 ALl
SLAR T (B AR 47 > 222 R e 55 TR S 30 i 3
) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
A 20214F3 1 31 FUEAFE

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. il T H A AR A S AE e A% (4)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy VAW E
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of TERBPEAREBOESE TEWNA RETERE
the Group’s financial instruments measured at fair value: |

Fair value measurement using

R4 e f it
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active markets observable unobservable
(Level 1) inputs (Level 2) inputs (Level 3) Total

HATPE BEAATEE
i R I 5 LN 6 i A\ Weh

(5E—#) (5B =) (B=%) A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T Tt Ti#T T#t
As at 31 March 2021 202143 H 31 H
Hong Kong listed equity Bt LT R IR
securities 95,485 - - 95,485
Life insurance policy NE R - - 17,111 17,111
95,485 - 17,111 112,596
As at 31 March 2020 J# 202043 31 H
Hong Kong listed equity B LT R I
securities 152,201 - - 152,201
Life insurance policy N2 - - 16,720 16,720
152,201 - 16,720 168,921
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value AL FA 2021 4F K& 2020 4F 3 /] 31 H i MEAT AT 4%
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. ANREE R SRAE -
The movements in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the R E 2021 4E % 20204E3 A 31 H IF4ERE » A ol
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as disclosed in note 19. SR S A EE T A B S 19 TP bR
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no HE 2021 4 % 2020453 F 31 H IF4ERE > 34l
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and TR » 65— B — 80N S5y
no transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial instruments. 2 ] Slf7 e i RS % Sl e A SR = 4wk AR = A
oo
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
borrowings, lease liabilities, cash and short term bank deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The Group’s exposure to market risk (including foreign currency
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of its
business. These risks are managed by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below:

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had no short-term borrowings, so
there is no interest rate risk. As of 31 March 2020, if the interest rates
had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2020 would have been HK$41,000 lower/higher mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to the interest rates on its variable rate other
borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the
units’ functional currencies. The Group manages its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the level of foreign currency balances. The
Group currently has not entered into any foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk. Management will
consider hedging foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

35.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

St 785 J B A B R e 3R

ASEER B THEEFEME - HEa
i BLE REMMATA K o 2% M THE®
M AL EEEEEE S - AEBAEEK
R T ) A R A e T R B Bl
5y MEWSUR T I 52 5 EA KO

A o TR B A7 JEL — i S5 AR A o 2 A Y T
B (B 4% S0 i Ja B ) ~ A B e % L Bl < S
B o Eh AR5 [ 1) BB 4 B EOOR B A 978 PR %
SE R N

BE2021F3H31 H > AN MEE 5S>
A LR A R R AR © #52E 20204E3 A 31 > fif
FIZ BTN B S0 R EG BT AT oAl w] s R
HAEFEASE > RIASSE B8 % 202043 H 31 H 1k
AF B IO BLAE 5 G N 88 41,0009 0T > E
TR A AR S [ T B Al R A R ) R LB

B Il B

AEEETE 2 5 EA BB o BLAE Ja B R
B DA% B0 D) e £ M DA Sh 2 B AT R T
FEAE o A SR T i U L4 AN A RO P A
FCAN W R B o AR 4 [ T I R T SAT AT A1
EURSS Ok S UPAN 5 ra e 9 DV S b
S R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group entities, which are
mainly trade receivables, other receivables, bank balances, trade and
other payables and lease liabilities, at the end of the reporting period
are approximately as follows:

S 5 B 4 B I B % BOSR (A1)

B s R K ()

AR T A i o IR DA 25 4 BT IR 9 T e L
SR SN RHE R B R E R R AR (£
B 5 BEWGRIA ~ oAb BEWOROH ~ SRATAA 8% - ™
Ty B F A EAS SO DL R B B ) o MR T
EOE U

Assets Liabilities
e A

2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 4 2021 4 2020 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt Tt Tt Fisoc
US$ EVw 48,916 13,599 4,110 5,284
RMB NG 4 24 152 157

Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the HK$/US$ exchange rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss after tax.

FH P 0 B S ST 8y AR B B U o0 S S 0T
) BEE 1 At BUAT o] B2 )

R e S A R A A R RS 2
S A A A T 58 ) 22 0 4 A 8 1 B
R -

Increase/ (Increase)/

(decrease) in decrease in

RMB rate loss after tax

NG B Bt 1% i 1R

£t (F ) WA, (Bm)

% HK$°000

T#e
2021 2021 4F

If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB NSN3 5% (6)

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB i s T 5N B W THE (5%) 6
2020 2020 4F

If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB ERESTRTWNGE: 352 ) 5% 6)

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB it e S R B THE (5%) 6
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables as well as other receivables.
The carrying amounts of each class of the above financial assets
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. All cash and cash equivalents
were placed with state-owned banks and financial institutions in the
PRC and reputable international banks and financial institutions in
Hong Kong. The Group has policies in place to ensure that revenues
under credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate
credit history and management performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its counterparties. In addition, The Group has policies in place to
ensure that settlement of trade receivables is followed up on a timely
basis. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to
HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model:

. trade receivables for sales of goods, and
. other financial assets at amortised cost.

While cash and cash equivalents were also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified.

35.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

St 385 I B A B I R e B3R ()

i B L B

A I i BB OB S Y - B
B AR T e At B WA A B 9 BB - B
e 55T 7 ) PR T {5 A 2 [ o T B L
T A B Y e KA B

Jo g e

R E R R AR - A Bl & R &%
AFLH 359 A L v ) I AT AT < R AR LA T
AR 2 R 10 B BRERAT R MR o AL
TR BORE > A PRAF 0T 09 i i 2 45 £ SR ek
PERA W AR T RC 8k 22 5 6 T4 T A
& 5 S 5 S AT R RS o BeAh o A SR
P PO B - TR S I B B2 R W I
KL o A 2 I R R OR A Hh S B LR

<5 Tl AL

A T AT T TR <l P S A o B i A
SIS o BE R B (5 B 4R

o BERMIR S BIGRI &

o TRERSHINURTHE B HAL S E

il 7 B D B A (B W IR T s A B IR

e I 9 BERY BUE AL E - (HL0 R 5 AT AT 3ol (L
JEitg o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
A 20214F3 1 31 FUEAFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 March. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

As at 31 March 2021

35. o e ke A B H AR R BUSR (48

i BB ()
<5 Tl 7 AL ()

R BUR AR G EEOR A5 8 5 B i
R A5 B JEBR 1T > R BOR T R i )
B BRIFHAL EORE AT DUTE S A H A 2055 )
B DU AT > DL R 3 H 31 H AR R )
MM e BB R <l A ) AR T

#202143H 31 H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 7 189
5 B E 2 Y HEYE SR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB BTREB BB flifb Bt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Ry T Tt AR
Trade receivables & 5y ME R IA - - - 53,239 53,239
Financial assets included FEATEATE
in prepayments, deposits i 435 B HoAt B
and other receivables ERIE Y 4 Rl A
— Normal* — IEH* 1,903 - - - 1,903
Cash and bank balances B4 K ERAT A iR 37,213 - - - 37,213
39,116 - - 53,239 92,355

158 Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited i i % &2 [ ¥ i A BR 2 W



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

St 385 I B A B I R e B3R ()

s B B (41)

4 i g A DA ()
202043 H31 H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1248 H
A Bl 18 G S R
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BoPEBL SR TPEB SRR fijfti% Hwt

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000

Tr TR Tk Tl TR
Trade receivables B 5y MENTERIE - - - 82,269 82,269
Financial assets included FEATEASS I -

in prepayments, deposits P24 K HCAt RE K
and other receivables TN 4 il & e

— Normal* — IEH 6,316 — - — 6,316

Cash and bank balances B4 MSRAT &5 R 27,915 - - - 27,915

34,231 - - 82,269 116,500

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Trade receivables

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and ageing periods.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

* FEATE AT SRIE - i < B HC A R iR L <6
ol ST A ) - EL NI AT ] R )
% 56 4 T L 1 ) e R AR I £ A LB
s > RS SRR (R ] -
TR SREE SR A AR ] -

=8 e e

A% 55 0 B ) A o U 5 s A Y B 565 9 5% i R T W 1Y
fifb oy ikt B SlE1E > ot A 5 5 e
WO IE ) A S T s AR A < wH R
Bl R - B 5 B GHRIE O AR TR 1 15 45 JE B
R RE A o

L s 4R R A A DL ST W B P A5 IR
FRIERE J7 B4 2 BLACHR [R 2 ) LIRS B T IS 1 S0
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 was
determined as follows for trade receivables:

S 5 B 4 B I B % BOSR (A1)

i BB ()

<5 Tl 7 AL ()
B 5 BEN A ()

BRI > 2021 4F [ 20204F 3 A 31 HE 51
WCHIE Y s R R

Overdue Overdue
Current within 1 year over 1 year Total
BP9 14F g AR 1) At
As at 31 March 2021 202143 H 31 H
Expected loss rate iRl oEis R 0.29% 1.09% 100.00% 3.95%
Gross carrying amount HR T 48 51,013 274 1,952 53,239
Loss allowance s R A 147 3 1,952 2,102
As at 31 March 2020 2020473 A 31 H
Expected loss rate THH R R 1.35% 2.20% 100.00% 4.08%
Gross carrying amount R T AL 32,599 47,803 1,867 82,269
Loss allowance [ ZEi=tegi 439 1,053 1,867 3,359

Other financial assets ar amortised cost

There was no loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised
cost as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet
its liquidity requirements. The Group finances its working capital
requirements through a combination of funds generated from
operations and other borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based
on contractual undiscounted payments including interest payments
computed using contractual rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

Yot 5 DL B A B H AR M B3R (A)

i B < L B

A T B3 A A R TS R 0 B R A REUBE DA
JEIL BN B A TR o AR I A T 7 A Y
B R A D7 SR L B R
%o

T M A A AR S ARG BT
AR (ELEE & 2R 5 FILE RO 1 R AT
A A E I D o

On demand Total
or less than 1to Over contractual Carrying
1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
R aHBE
fig 32 1E54 Bills4E it A % T 4
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
AR T TT THs T AR THs o0
As at 31 March 2021 202143 H 31 H
Trade and other payables 8 5 Fo HoAth EAS 30HE 21,601 - - 21,601 21,601
Lease liabilities HE A 247 808 - 1,055 878
21,848 808 - 22,656 22,479
As at 31 March 2020 74202043 H 31 H
Trade and other payables & 5y N HoAth e A 2 TH 19,725 - - 19,725 19,725
Borrowings Efiss 10,201 - - 10,201 9,924
Lease liabilities GiENC=Li 326 848 128 1,302 1,068
30,252 848 128 31,228 30,717
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35.

162

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for sharcholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, or sell assets to reduce
debt. No changes in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital were made during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of management, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends as well as issue of
new debt or the redemption of the debt.

The Group monitors capital using, inter alias, a gearing ratio which is

net debt divided by total equity plus net debt. As at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020, the Group had a net cash position.

Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited i i £ £ [ ¥ i A B 2 7

35.

S 85 I B A B R e R ()

BAE B

ARG A BB A H RS DR B AR B R A A
BETT o 2 IR SRR I 90 LA o A e e A TR
PAREAR B A AR o

A A ) L A 7 ek 8 IR 00 ) At B 1
R o BAERR O G AN AR [ ] fiE
F R 1) B BRSSO B, 1 S SR R Y A e
B DA B o A 2021 4 S 2020 4R
3H31 A1 > AREAS M EE - BUR
BRI AT ] S ) o

7S T A L U0 R AR R o AR 2 R B Y
—ERr o A B B AR R R B R AR
R 1 JEL B o AR I R A AR T
SRS B g AT s R RS - AT
BRI

AAEE A () EE A E LR (& T
B DARE 25 AR B S 0F A8 DL ES R AR o
202143 A 31 A &% 20204E3 A 31 0 > AR&EEE;
I AR o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) Updates on Significant Investments Held

©)

Based on the announcements of China U-Ton Future
Space Industrial Group Holdings Limited (the former
name is “China U-Ton Holdings Limited”) (“U-Ton
Future”) dated 5 May 2021, 7 May 2021 and 13 May
2021, a petition in the matter of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32) was filed in the High Court of The Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”)
against U-Ton Future on 4 February 2021, upon which
U-Ton Future was ordered to be wound up by the High
Court on 5 May 2021 in HCCW 57/2021 and the
official receiver was appointed as the provisional
liquidator of U-Ton Future. Trading in the shares of
U-Ton Future has been suspended since 5 May 2021
with share price of HK$0.161 per share. On 7 May
2021, the official receiver made an application to the
High Court seeking, inter alia, an order to appoint joint
and several liquidators of U-Ton Future, which has
been heard since 25 June 2021. Please refer to the
announcements of U-Ton Future for further details. At
the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Group held approximately 7.01% of U-Ton Future.

The fair values of the shares of U-Ton Future held by
the Group as at 31 March 2021 were HK$35,897,000.
As U-Ton Future is under receivership at the date of
approval of these financial statements, it is not
practicable to estimate its financial effect to the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

36. #Hh IS IH

(@ FHAEZIERBREZEH

@

R w120 4 408 R 2l 22 [H] 7 24 [
B A R 2N ) (Rl il [ o (2 A 4 425
HIRAF D ((HE@EERNK] HIE
20215 HS5H ~ 20215 H7H &
20214E5 A 13 BB > 22021 4F
2 H 4 HAARPECA B (G5 S HETE IR 52 )
ey (5532 F5) 1] 75 s 4% 7l 4 7 1B I
GEX AGE S A Sk
AR R R mE IR
202145 A 5 HEHCCW 57/2021 —
ZEHE A AR AE A - RB AT
A L 2B A A R Y B I T
N o PR3 R AR A0 1 BREARE 1y 5
0.161% 7T > H20214E5HSHE Y
EEH o R20214F5H7H > B E
S ER N SRR R
(H A 45) ZR A ZAT B Rk
B FLRNE SR > 3% H R B 2021 4F
6 H 25 HHEETTIERN o E— B FE N wG
S BB R AR A o 5% %5 B
WA B W > A SE R
KA 7.01% HIHEDS -

R20214E3 A31H » REFEFTFA
R Nl /N (A
35,897,000 #5 JC © H A 4B 4 A 2 i
P SRR AL E B C b
B WO IR T L3 A S [ i B
NGR4T o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Updates on Significant Investments Held (continued)

(i)

Based on the announcements of Xiezhong International
Holdings Limited (“Xiezhong International”) and the
scheme document jointly issued by Brilliance
International Holding Limited, Golden Fair Chemical
(Holding) Limited and Xiezhong International on 24
May 2021 (the “Scheme Document”), a proposal (the
“Proposal”) for the privatisation of Xiezhong
International by way of a scheme of arrangement under
Section 86 of the Companies Act (the “Scheme”) was
made on 26 February 2021. Pursuant to the
announcement of Xiezhong International dated 16 June
2021, as at the date thereof, the Proposal remains, and
the Scheme will become effective, subject to the
fulfilment or waiver (as applicable) of the conditions as
set out in the Scheme Document. Please refer to the
announcements of Xiezhong International for further
details. At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Group held approximately 2.41% of
Xiezhong International. Trading in the shares of
Xiezhong International has been suspended since 24
June 2021 with share price of HK$0.79 per share. If the
Proposal becomes unconditional and the Scheme
becomes effective, Xiezhong International expects to
withdraw the listing of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange with effect from 7 July 2021.

The fair values of the shares of Xiezhong International
held by the Group as at 31 March 2021 were
HK$13,700,000. As the Scheme has not yet been
effective at the date of approval of these financial
statements, it is not practicable to estimate its financial
effect to the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A IO 5 R A M

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Termination of Negotiations Regarding The Possible
Transaction

On 21 June 2021, the Company was informed by Messrs. Lai
Kar Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as joint and several receivers (the
“Receivers”) over the 129,372,494 ordinary shares of the
Company held by HNA Aviation Investment Holding
Company Ltd. (the “Charged Shares”) that no formal sale and
purchase agreement had been entered into in respect of the
possible sale and purchase of the Charged Shares (the “Possible
Transaction”), and the memorandum of understanding (the
“MOU”) was expired and terminated on 20 June 2021. The
Board was further informed by the Receivers that it is still their
current intention to sell the Charged Shares and the Receivers
are identifying potential third-party purchasers and are in
discussion with several of them in relation to the disposal of
the Charged Shares, which may trigger a mandatory general
offer under the Takeovers Code and hence a change of
controlling shareholder of the Company should any
purchaser(s) acquire 30% or more of the voting rights of the
Company. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 June 2021 for further details.

37. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the

current year’s presentation and disclosures.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

36. i R FOR (8)

(b)

H Ak TE T AT RERE 5

202146 H 21 H » E F & 5 S HNA
Aviation Investment Holding Company Ltd.
AR T 129,372,494 805 R ([ 2
ARy 1) A 2 R[] B A B N2 1
B o BB BROT B Rt RIAT I B2 5 B e A
T BR S AR (T A8 D) 5 0 > L 40 i ]
BEE S CE MR ([T REZC S 1) WY AR
ey 1E A R T o T R A A B (T R
M S 8% D) 2 2021 4F 6 1 20 H I 1%
b o EHREMEE NE— 20> K
B A5 A 2 8 C B TR A
LY A =7 H A > Wbt 2
LA Ay B TR s N AT S A
] 5 T A O ST I E R A
il PR 2 T A > DRI o Al AT ] B i
AN E 30% B Lh L B EERE S AR E R
PSRNt BLAE B o A B RERE - W2 BA
2] HIW /2021 4F 6 H 23 HEG 24 Aff

37. hBRE#
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A ILARE

38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. AN MBRIE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the AN TSI A B R BB IR R W R R
Company at the end of the reporting year is as follows:
2021 2020
20214F 2020 4F
HK$°000 HK$000
Fioc THETT
Non-current assets IR B E =
Property, plant and equipment W2~ BE B 73 -
Investments in subsidiaries B A F A 107,193 107,316
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss %2y SR (B 7T A $H 2 19 4 il & 7 95,485 -
Total non-current assets I L AR 202,751 107,316
Current assets B @
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE AT F 4 R FoAth S R IE 1,661 36
Due from subsidiaries JRE L MTJ%A A IE 9,453 11,897
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  #i/2% fe(E it A48 25 1 4 il & 28 - 152,201
Cash and bank balances B4 ARAT & B 3,448 10,222
Total current assets i B A 14,562 174,356
Current liabilities i B £ 4%
Due to subsidiaries JEAT B 2 j FRIE 10,780 10,780
Other payables and accruals oAt JBEASS R TE B R 2 ) 1,200 827
Total current liabilities it B £ fE AR AR 11,980 11,607
Net current assets B G R 2,582 162,749
Total assets less current liabilities 48 A U B A 205,333 270,065
Net assets F & & 205,333 270,065
Equity Bt
Issued capital T AT IRA 863 863
Reserves (note) ftf (BRFRE) 204,470 269,202
Total equity HE 13 A0 205,333 270,065
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B A IO 5 R A M

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

39.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#2021 4F3 1 31 A IEARE

38. A wABHIR DR (5)

COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note: A summary of the reserve movements of the Company is as BERE A vl I ZE T
follows:
Retained
earnings/
Share Other Capital Warrant  (accumulated Total
premium reserve surplus reserve losses) equity
AR REEN/
B i £ oAl ik BEARR N it (RiteE#) M2 A
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Tk Tk T T TiBT Tk
Asat 1 April 2019 201944 1 1 H 122,787 1,940 105,366 2,470 89,419 321,982
Loss for the year and total SER TR )
comprehensive loss for the year AR 2 T B TR A - - - - (52,780) (52,780)
Expiration of warrants R pE R B - - - (2,470) 2,470 -
Asat 31 March 2020 and J202043 4 31 H )t
1 April 2020 202044 H1H 122,787 1,940 105,366 - 39,109 269,202
Loss for the year and total FENREH R
comprehensive loss for the year R AT ER A - - - - (64,732) (64,732)
Asat 31 March 2021 202143 131 H 122,787 1,940 105,366 - (25,623) 204,470
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 39. HfbERIG B K

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors o

n 30 June 2021.

A O 2021 4F 6 H 30 HHLE R A7 HETI 88 45

EMBREL -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Y 5 W

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL RESULTS

T4 B 5 36 A

Year ended 31 March
WE3H31 HILEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 2020 4F 2019 4F 2018 4F 2017 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#t Tt THso0 Tt T 0
Revenue W sk 162,644 154,038 219,286 433,666 547,623
Cost of sales PR A (155,625) (145,153) (191,839) (355,041) (440,824)
Gross profit T 7,019 8,885 27,447 78,625 106,799
Other income HAb e A 713 356 599 2,660 2,890
Selling expenses SHEERH ¥ (4,380) (4,283) (21,362) (31,820) (42,608)
Administrative expenses TR (22,033) (25,269) (49,818) (61,610) (70,997)
Reversal of impairment losses/ 5 0 A (EL R 4R
(impairment losses) on financial WG EREE)
assets, net B 1,341 (2,614) - - -
Other gain, net HAb I 25 H5E 815 3,071 35,336 12,992 6,397
Other losses, net HAbf18 > H4 (57,778) (46,533) (6,584) (25,570) (2,471)
Finance costs W5 A (356) (941) (1,034) (8,714) (6,153)
Share of loss of a joint venture JREAG &8 2 m s 4R (13) (8) (27) (140) (27)
Loss before tax 53 6 il e 488 (74,672) (67,3306) (15,443) (33,583) (6,170)
Income tax expense P A5 A5 B 2 (326) (358) (1,693) (3,714) (2,984)
Loss for the year attributable to BEY W) RE AR BEA N\ EAG
the equity holders of the parent  4E A i 1R (74,998) (67,694) (17,136) (37,297) (9,154)
Total assets, total liabilities and B - AEAE
total equity B HE %5 4848
Total assets B A 228,506 309,467 377,869 400,709 719,942
Total liabilities B 23,173 31,161 30,358 31,933 398,678
Total equity HE 25 A ER 205,333 278,306 347,511 368,776 321,264
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